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To be a trusted and preferred business process
outsourcing (BPO) service provider to organisations in
key segments of economies in the region and beyond

Our Mission
We strive to delight our customers with BPO
services that use cutting edge technologies and best
practices, enabled by committed people and innovative
processes that protect the integrity and security of our
customers’ data and documents
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chairman’s
statement
On behalf of the Board of Directors of
Efficient E-Solutions Berhad (“EFFICIENT”), I
hereby present the Annual Report and the
Audited Financial Statements of EFFICIENT
Group (“the Group”) for the financial year
ended 31 December 2010.
Financial Performance
The Group recorded revenue of RM58.8 million for the
financial year ended 31 December 2010 as compared to
RM65.5 million achieved in the previous financial year.
The Group’s net profit after taxation for the financial year
decreased 25.2% to RM12.5 million from RM16.7 million last
year. Revenue and net profit decreased as a major software
application project ended during the financial year.
Earnings per share for the financial year reduced to 1.89 sen
from 2.54 sen last year. The Group’s total net assets stood
at RM99.9 million as at 31 December 2010, an increase of
1.9% as compared to RM98.2 million a year ago.

chairman’s
statement (cont’d)
Dividend

Prospect

The Group had on 5 January 2011 paid an interim tax exempt
dividend of 1.5% per ordinary share of RM0.10 each for the
financial year ended 31 December 2010.

In the coming financial year, the Group will continue its drive to
strengthen existing customer and product portfolios. To improve
further, the Group will also continue its efforts to enhance and
streamline the Group’s operations in delivering efficient solutions
to customers.

Industry Trend & Development
The Malaysian economy registered a growth of 7.2% in 2010 (Bank
Negara Malaysia Annual Report 2010). With stimulus packages
and the newly released New Economic Model, Government aims
to pave the way for stronger economic growth.

The Group expects the business environment to remain
challenging in 2011 with an upswing in year 2012 given
materialization of a few initiatives and the expected change of
market trend.

The imposition of RM50 service tax for credit cards has caused
some consolidation of cards per individual that led to a slight
drop in the number of principal cards in circulation. However,
the banking industry continues to grow due to the emergence of
young executives in the market and new banking products.

Quality Assurance

The change of regulatory requirements has allowed insurance
policies to be printed in one language. This may cause an adverse
impact on print volume of existing products from the insurance
industry. However, the Group remains optimistic on the volume
of printing of insurance policies in light of the surge of Takaful
products of most insurance companies.

Efficient MailCom Sdn Bhd (“EMC”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of EFFICIENT, was certified with ISO9001:2000 by BSI endorsed
by United Kingdom Accreditation (“UKAS”) on 22 January 2009.
During the year, EMC undertook QMS surveillance audit on its
quality management system and demonstrated compliance with
the newly revised ISO9001:2008.

The Group introduced its newly developed e-Statement portal
in 2010 to facilitate future needs of the banking industry. This
is a strategic development to ensure healthy revenue growth
consistent with the Group’s mission to provide cutting edge
technologies and innovative processes for its customers.

EMC emphasized the importance of information security in
safeguarding all confidential data including those of its customers.
On 23 October 2009, EMC was certified with ISO 27001:2005 for
its data print and data capture services at Bukit Jelutong Facility
by SIRIM endorsed by UKAS. During the year, EMC undertook
ISMS surveillance audit and demonstrated its compliance with
the ISO 27001:2005 on its information security system.
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The Group continues to hold strong commitment to implement
best business practices via continual business improvement
programs.
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chairman’s
statement (cont’d)
Corporate Social Responsibility
Social responsibility is an integral part of EFFICIENT’s business
philosophy. In line with this philosophy, the Group has taken
proactive steps in making contributions toward community,
environment and workplace. The initiatives undertaken include
offering graduate placement programs, providing food subsidy
to all the employees, reducing wastage generated by improving
efficiency of production workflow, community service at the work
place, community service through Toastmasters training and the
preservation of environment.
Among the activities are:(i)	Charity Show
In the spirit of thanksgiving, a group of caring staff mooted the
idea of a charity show entitled “EFFICAMY 2010 CHARITY
SHOW” to raise funds within the Company as a gesture of
love, care and appreciation towards our colleagues from our
neighbouring countries namely Philippines, Myanmar and
Nepal.

The proceeds from the charity event was used to purchase
rice, cooking oil and other essential food stuff which were
distributed to our foreign colleagues of the various hostels on
23 December 2010. The event was graced by our Executive
Director, Ms Esther Soon, and our foreign colleagues were
noticeably touched and blessed by the warmth and caring
attitude of the local staff.
(ii)	Mount Kinabalu Climb
In keeping with the theme ‘pressing on towards greater
heights’ and to create awareness amongst the employees
the importance of preserving the environment and promote
healthy living, a group of 24 sport club members of EFFICIENT
had climbed Mount Kinabalu, the highest mountain in South
East Asia (4095m).
It was an excellent opportunity for our employees to enjoy
themselves during the entire journey scaling the world
heritage, admiring and greatly appreciating the breathe
taking scenic view and the well preserved beautiful nature.
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statement (cont’d)
(iii)	Toastmasters Training
In our annual exercise of identifying training needs,
efficient realized that there is a need to enhance the
communication and leadership skill of our employees which
gave rise to the formation of Efficient Toastmasters Club
(“ETC”) on 4 February 2010.
Toastmasters International is a nonprofit organization
providing training in the art of public speaking, in
presiding over meetings and leadership training. With the
encouragement and support of the Management, a number
of our members have been participating actively in a few
of the community Toastmasters Clubs in the Area playing
various roles such as timer, speech evaluator and general
evaluator as a service to the community.
At the club level ETC has successfully organized an
international speech contest involving 4 other community
clubs in the area recently. ETC is confident that with same
level of commitment, it not only would be able to train more
employees but train more people from the general pubic
through the community clubs in the vicinity.

Appreciation
On behalf of the Board of Directors I wish to express my heartiest
appreciation to the management and employees of the Group
for their support and commitment demonstrated throughout this
challenging year of 2010. The EFFICIENT staff force is recognised
as an invaluable asset that continues to drive the Group towards
greater heights.
As a special note, I wish to extend my appreciation to Dato’
Shaik Aqmal bin Shaik Allaudin, who resigned during the year,
for his invaluable contributions to the Group during his tenure as
a director of EFFICIENT. Also, I would like to thank the retiring
auditors, Messrs Poh & Co, who did not seek for reappointment
due to a change of business direction to focus on SME, for
service rendered thus far.
Last but not least, I wish to record my appreciation and gratitude
to all our valued customers, business partners, shareholders and
the Board of Directors, who have given their unwavering support
and valuable feedback.

Dato’ Abdul LATIF bin abdullah
Chairman
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dato’ abdul latif bin abdullah
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Homepage : www.efficient.com.my
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AmBank (M) Berhad
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Stock Exchange Listing
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6

Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
Annual Report 2010

corporate
structure

Efficient SofTech Sdn Bhd
100%

Printegrate Sdn Bhd
100%
Efficient MailCom Sdn Bhd
100%

Efficient E-Solutions Berhad

Efficient International Sdn Bhd
100%

Regalia Records Management Sdn Bhd
30%

REGALIA SOLUTIONS SDN BHD
Regalia Solutions Sdn Bhd
30%
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First Leader
(Asia) Limited

board of
directors
Dato’ Abdul Latif Bin Abdullah
Malaysian, aged 61 years

Vincent Cheah Chee Kong
Malaysian, aged 52 years

was appointed as the Chairman and Independent Non-Executive
Director of EFFICIENT on 2 August 2004. He is also the Chairman
of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. He was a member
of the Audit Committee until 27 April 2011. He gained his Bachelor
of Arts (Hons) in International Relations from University Malaya in
1975, Master of Science (Marine Law & Policy) from University
of Wales (UWIST) in 1981, Senior Management Development
Program from Harvard Business School in 1992 and a member of
Chartered Institute of Logistics & Transport, UK in 1990.

was appointed as the Managing Director of EFFICIENT on 21
January 2004. He holds a Bachelor of Arts (General Political
Science) degree from the University of Waterloo, Canada. He
has over 20 years of experience as an entrepreneur in various
industries such as outsourcing services, information technology,
security systems, garment manufacturing, food & beverage and
government supplies. He was one of the pioneering members
of Efficient MailCom Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of
EFFICIENT, which he joined in 1990.

He started his career in 1975 with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs
attached to West Asian Desk. He then joined the Malaysian
International Shipping Corporation Berhad as an Executive, Liner
Division. From 1982 to 1992, he was with Perbadanan Nasional
Shipping Line Berhad (“PNSL”) and was instrumental in the
formation and heading a number of subsidiaries and joint venture
companies with the PNSL Group. He was the General Manager,
Business and Corporate Division before opting to join Mitsui OSK
Lines (M) Sdn Bhd in 1990 as a founder Director and remains as
Chairman after his retirement in 2005.

He is responsible for formulating and implementing business
policies and corporate strategies of the Group and has been
instrumental in spearheading the progress and development of
the Group to ensure organizational effectiveness. He also sits on
the board of several other private limited companies.

He was previously Executive Chairman of Realmild (M) Sdn Bhd
and Chairman of Radicare (M) Sdn Bhd and Labuan Shipyard
& Engineerig Sdn Bhd. He was Chairman of Penang Port Sdn
Bhd from January 2004 to December 2009, Chairman of the
International Shipowners’ Association of Malaysia from 1998
to 2008 and was Vice-Chairman of the Malaysian Shipowners’
Association. He has also served as Chairman of Amanah Raya
Asian Finance Islamic Marine Fund from 2007 to 2010.
Presently, Dato’ Abdul Latif serves as Chairman of Ancom
Logistics Berhad and Deputy Chairman of Ekowood International
Berhad. He also holds various private company directorships in
Malaysia.
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Victor Cheah Chee Wai
Malaysian, aged 41 years
was appointed as an Executive Director of EFFICIENT on 21
January 2004. He is a member of the ESOS Committee. He
graduated from the University of Newcastle, Sydney in 1992
with a Bachelor of Commerce degree, major in Accounting and
Marketing. In May 2008, he attended the Owner / President
Management Programme at Harvard Business School, Boston,
United States.
He started his career with Sime Darby Berhad in 1992 in the field
of marketing and subsequently transferred to Chubb (M) Sdn
Bhd, a subsidiary of Sime Darby Berhad in charge of project sales
to banking institutions. In 1997, he joined Efficient MailCom Sdn
Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of EFFICIENT, as a Director.
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board of
directors (cont’d)
He is responsible for the marketing and operations of the Group.
He has been involved in the implementation of major projects of
the Group in the area of banking statement printing, insurance
company policy printing, scanning and archiving of security
documents. He was instrumental in the setting up of the Shah
Alam facilities, which incorporated the requirements of banking
institutions and insurance companies especially in the area of
data securities. He also sits on the board of several other private
limited companies.

Esther Soon Yoke Leng
Malaysian, aged 50 years
was appointed as an Executive Director of EFFICIENT on
21 January 2004. She is the Joint Company Secretary of
EFFICIENT. She is a graduate member of Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators (ICSA), UK under the Financial
stream.
She has over 20 years of experience in financial services and
senior management. Her experience encompassed financial
management, corporate services, strategic human resources
planning and leadership development.
She was one of the pioneering members of Efficient MailCom
Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of EFFICIENT, which
she joined in 1990 and has been instrumental in establishing
and managing the initial operations of the company. She is
responsible for the strategic human resources planning,
leadership training and development, secretarial and
administrative functions of the Group. She is also overseeing
few initiatives in the operations and customers service of
Efficient MailCom Sdn Bhd. She also holds directorship in
various private companies.
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Datuk Syed Hussian bin Syed Junid
Malaysian, aged 50 years
was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of EFFICIENT on 2 August 2004. He is the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and ESOS Committee. He started his career
with The American Malaysian Insurance Sdn Bhd as a Trainee
Executive in 1982. In 1986, he was promoted as the Penang
Branch Manager. Later in 1989, he was promoted as the
Regional Manager covering Penang, Perlis, Kedah and Perak.
Currently he is the Senior Director of Business Operations &
Sales Support for Asia in Western Digital Sdn Bhd, a company
involved in the manufacture of hard-disc drives. He also sits
on the board of various other private limited companies.

HO HIN CHOY
Malaysian, aged 46 years
was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of EFFICIENT on 26 February 2007. He is a member of the
Audit Committee and ESOS Committee He graduated from
the University of New South Wales, Sydney with a Bachelor
of Commerce degree in Accounting. He also holds a Diploma
in Marketing from Chartered Institute of Marketing (United
Kingdom). He is also a Chartered Accountant with the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants and a Certified Financial
Planner. He started his career in 1987 with Bland and Partners,
Sydney as an audit and tax agent. In 1998, he joined Touche
Ross & Co, England as an exchange trainee. He joined Price
Waterhouse, Singapore in 1988 as an Auditor. In 1990, he
joined DHL International (S) Pte Ltd, Singapore, as a Financial
Accountant and subsequently, in 1991, he joined DHL
Worldwide Express Sdn Bhd as a Finance Manager. Since
1995, he has been a Capital Markets Services Representative
with Public Investment Bank Bhd. He also sits on the board of
various other private limited companies in Malaysia.
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board of
directors (cont’d)
VOONG KIAN YEE
Malaysian, aged 44 years

Family relationships

was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of EFFICIENT on 27 April 2011. He was also appointed
as a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination &
Remuneration Committee on the same date.
He is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants
(MIA) and a member of Malaysian Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (MICPA). He started his career in 1992 as Audit
Assistant in a public accountants firm and subsequently joined
Ernst & Young in 1996 as Audit Senior. In 1998, he joined
Articulate Online Holdings Berhad, a group of companies
principally involved in telecommunication and online operations,
as Finance Manager. Subsequently in 2001, he joined Kerry
Beverages (Overseas) Limited, a franchisee bottling plant
for bottling and distribution of beverages in People Republic
of China, as Finance Manager. In 2004, he joined Efficient
E-Solutions Berhad as Finance and Administration Manager.

None of the directors of the Company have any family
relationship with any other directors and / or major shareholders
of the Company except Mr Vincent Cheah Chee Kong who is
the brother of Mr Victor Cheah Chee Wai.
Conflict of interests
None of the directors of the Company have any conflict of
interest with the Group.
Conviction for offences
None of the Directors has been convicted of any offences
(excluding traffic offences, if any) within the last 10 years.
Board Meetings
A total of four (4) Board Meetings were held during the financial
year ended 31 December 2010. The record of attendance is
as follows:No. of meeting
attended

Presently, he is the Branch Manager of Wong Chau Hwa &
Co, a public accountant firm, where he joined since 2006.
Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah

4/4

Vincent Cheah Chee Kong

2/4

Victor Cheah Chee Wai

4/4

Esther Soon Yoke Leng

3/4

Datuk Syed Hussian bin Syed Junid

3/4

Dato’ Shaik Aqmal bin Shaik Allaudin
3/4
(resigned on 30 November 2010)		
Ho Hin Choy

4/4

Voong Kian Yee
n/a
(appointed on 27 April 2011) 		
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Audit committee
report
The Audit Committee comprises the following directors:

Summary of activities of the Committee

Chairman

During the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the
activities of the Audit Committee covered, amongst others,
the following:• Reviewed the quarterly and annual financial statements
of the Company and the Group prior to submission to the
Board of Directors for consideration and approval.
• Reviewed the audit plan 2010 with external auditors.
• Reviewed the assistance given by the Company’s and
Group’s employees to the external auditors.
• Reviewed and discussed with external auditors the issues
arising from the statutory audit and the audit report.
• Discussed problems and reservation arising from external
audit, and any matter the external auditors may wish to
discuss.
• Approved the audit charter and audit plan of the internal
audit department
• Reviewed the internal audit reports and consideration of
the findings and management’s responses thereto.
• Reviewed the procedure of Recurrent Related Party
Transactions (RRPT)
• Reviewed RRPT, Related Party Transactions and conflict
of interest that may arise within the Group
• Reviewed Internal Control Statement, Corporate
Governance Statement and Audit Committee Report

Datuk Syed Hussian bin Syed Junid
Independent Non-Executive Director
Members
Ho Hin Choy				
Independent Non-Executive Director
Voong Kian Yee
Independent Non-Executive Director
Meetings
A total of four (4) Audit Committee Meetings were held during
the financial year ended 31 December 2010. The record of
attendance is as follows:No. of meeting
attended
Datuk Syed Hussian bin Syed Junid

3/4

Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah
(resigned on 27 April 2011)

4/4

Ho Hin Choy

4/4

Voong Kian Yee
(appointed on 27 April 2011)

n/a

In addition, the Audit Committee had after the financial year
ended 31 December 2010, discharged the following duties:• evaluated the reason of the external auditor, Messrs Poh
& Co, for not seeking re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM
• evaluated the resignation of in-house internal auditor and
approved the appointment of IA Essential, a risk consulting
specialist, as internal auditors
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report (cont’d)
Statement of Verification on allocation under share
scheme for employees

Terms of Reference
Composition

There was no ESOS allocation for the financial year ended 31
December 2010.
There is no option offered to non-executive directors pursuant
to the ESOS By-Law.
Internal Audit Function
The Company has engaged an Internal Auditor to assist the
Audit Committee and the Board in the effective discharge
of their responsibilities and functions for the financial year.
The Internal Audit Department reports administratively to the
Executive Director and functionally to the Audit Committee
and is guided by its Audit Charter in its independent appraisal
function. The cost incurred for the internal audit function
amounted to RM79,400 for the financial year ended 31
December 2010.
The Internal Audit Department is responsible to:• Perform audit work in accordance with the internal audit
plan, including related follow-up activities.
• Carry out review on the system of internal controls of the
Group.
• Review and comment on the efficiency, effectiveness and
adequacy of the existing control policies and procedures.
• Provide recommendations, if any, for the improvement of
the control policies and procedures.
Subsequent to the financial year, IA Essential was appointed to
carry out the internal audit function in view of the resignation
of an in-house internal auditor.
The Board is of the view that there is no significant breakdown
or weaknesses in the systems of internal controls of the Group
that may result in material losses incurred by the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2010.
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The members of the Committee shall be appointed by the
Board from amongst the Directors excluding Alternate
Directors; shall consist of not less than three (3) members,
all the audit committee members must be non-executive
directors, with a majority of them being independent directors.
At least one (1) member of the audit committee:
(a) must be a member of Malaysian Institute of Accountant
(MIA); or
(b) If he is not a member of MIA, he must have at least three
(3) years of working experience and:
(aa) he must be a member of one of the associations
of the accountants specified in Part II of the 1st
Schedule of the Accountant Act, 1967, or
(ab) he must have passed the examination specified in
Part I of the 1st Schedule of the Accountant Act
1967.
In the event of any vacancy in the Committee resulting in the
non-compliance in respect of composition of Committee, the
Company must fill the vacancy within 3 months.
Chairman
The Chairman of the Committee must be an independent
director. In the absence of the Chairman, the members shall
elect any one of the members present at the meeting to be
the Chairman of the meeting.
Secretary
The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the
Committee.
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Audit committee
report (cont’d)
Meeting Procedure

Functions

At least four (4) meetings shall be convened during a year.
The meetings shall be scheduled regularly by the Secretary
and due notice shall be distributed to the members before the
meeting together with the agenda and supporting papers. The
minutes of the meeting shall be recorded for reference and
inspection purposes.

The Committee shall, amongst others, discharge the following
functions and report the same to the board of directors:• To review the audit plan with the external auditors;
• To review the evaluation of the systems of internal
controls with the external auditors;
• To review the audit report with the external auditors;
• To review the assistance given by the Company’s and
Group’s employees to the external auditors;
• To review the adequacy of the scope, functions,
competency and resources of the internal audit function
and that it has the necessary authority to carry out its
work;
• To review the internal audit programmes, processes, the
results of the internal audit programme, processes or
investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate
action is taken on the recommendations of the internal
audit functions;
• To review the quarterly results and year end financial
statements, prior to the approval of the Board of Directors,
focusing particularly on:(i) changes in or implementation of major accounting
policy changes;
(ii) significant and unusual events; and
(iii) compliance with accounting standards and other legal
requirements.
• To review any related party transaction and conflicts
of interest situation that may arise within the Group
including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct
that raises questions of management integrity;
• To verify that the allocation of options pursuant to the
share scheme for employees complies with the criteria of
allocation;

The executive directors, accountant, representative of the
external auditors may be present in any meeting by invitation
of the Committee.
Authority
The Committee, wherever necessary and reasonable for
the performance of its duties, shall in accordance with the
procedure determined by the Board and at the cost of the
Company:• Have authority to investigate any matter within its terms
of reference;
• Have the resources which are required to perform its
duties;
• Have full and unrestricted access to any information
pertaining to the Group;
• Have direct communication channels with the external
auditors and internal auditors;
• Be able to obtain independent professional or other
advice; and
• Be able to convene meetings with the external auditors,
the internal auditors or both, excluding the attendance
of other directors and employees of the listed company,
whenever deemed necessary.
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Audit committee
report (cont’d)
•
•

•

•

To review the resignation or dismissal of the external
auditors of the Company;
To review whether there is reason (supported by grounds)
to believe that the Group’s external auditor is not suitable
for re-appointment;
To recommend the nomination of external auditors, the
audit fees and any question of resignation or dismissal;
and
To promptly report to Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad on matters which result in a breach of Listing
Requirements.

Term of Office
The terms of office and performance of the Committee
and each of its members shall be reviewed by the Board of
Directors at least once in every three (3) years to determine
whether the Committee and its members have carried out
their duties in accordance with the terms of reference.

14

Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
Annual Report 2010

corporate governance
statement
The Board of Directors of Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
throughout the Group. The Board believes that strong
corporate governance is a fundamental part to protect and
enhance shareholder value and the financial performance of
the Group.
The Board of Directors is pleased to make a disclosure to
shareholders on the manner in which it has applied the
principles of good governance and the extent to which it has
complied with the best practices set out in the Malaysian
Code on Corporate Governance. These principles and best
practices have been applied throughout the year and are
regularly audited and reviewed to ensure transparency and
accountability.

(A) DIRECTORS
•

The Board
The Board has overall responsibility for the strategic
direction and control of the Group. The Board meets
on a quarterly basis and additionally as required.
The Board focuses mainly on the issue in relation to
strategic, financial performance and other material
business issues.
The profile of the Board of Directors is presented on
pages 8 to 10.
The Board has established sub-committees namely
Audit Committee and ESOS Committee to support
and assist in discharging its fiduciary duties and
responsibilities.
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The Board has, on 27 April 2011, established
Nomination & Remuneration Committee (NRC). NRC
consists wholly of independent directors, namely
Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah as Chairman and Mr
Voong Kian Yee as member. The Board is satisfied
that NRC, in its current form, is able to effectively and
efficiently discharge its functions and there was no
need to separate the nomination and remuneration
functions into discrete Nomination and Remuneration
committees.
•

Board Balance
The Board consists of 7 members, comprising 3
Executive Directors and 4 Independent Non-Executive
Directors. The Board is well balanced with more than
1/3 of its members are independent directors.
There is a clear division of responsibility between the
Chairman and the Group Managing Director to ensure
that there is a balance of power and authority. The roles
of the Chairman and the Group Managing Director
are separated and clearly defined. The Chairman of
the Company, Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah, holds
an independent position and is primarily responsible
for ensuring Board effectiveness whilst the Group
Managing Director, Mr Vincent Cheah Chee Kong,
has overall responsibilities over the operating units,
organizational effectiveness and implementation of
Board policies and decisions.
The presence of Independent Non-Executive Directors
fulfils a pivotal role in corporate accountability. Although
all the Directors have an equal responsibility for the
Group’s operations, the role of these Independent
Non-Executive Directors is particularly important as
they provide unbiased and independent views, advice
and judgment to take account of the interests, not only
of the Group but also, of shareholders, employees,
customers, suppliers and the many communities in
which the Group conducts business.
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corporate governance
statement (cont’d)
•

Supply of Information
The Board members in their individual capacity have
unrestricted access to complete information on a
timely basis in the form and quality necessary for
the discharge of their duties and responsibilities.
Prior to each Board meeting, all Board members are
furnished with the relevant documents and sufficient
information to enable them to obtain a comprehensive
understanding of the issues to be deliberated upon in
order to arrive at an informed decision.
Besides direct access to management staff, external
independent professional advisers are also made
available to render their independent views and
advice to the Board, whenever deemed necessary
and in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.
The Directors also have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretaries, who
are responsible in ensuring that Board meeting
procedures are followed and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with.

•

Appointments to the Board
The Board appoints its members through a process,
which is consistent with the Articles of Association of
the Company. The Company Secretary shall ensure
that all appointments are properly made and that legal
and regulatory obligations are met.
Subsequent to the financial year, the Board appointed
NRC with the responsibility to recommend candidates
for appointment to the Board and Board Committees
and assessing the effectiveness of the board in
accordance with the best practices of the Code.
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•

Re-elections to the Board
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, all Directors who are appointed by the
Board are subject to election by shareholders at the
first Annual General Meeting after their appointment.
The Articles also provide that save for the Managing
Director, at least one-third (1/3) of the remaining
Directors are required to submit themselves for reelection by rotation at each Annual General Meeting.
Directors standing for re-election at the forth coming
Annual General Meeting of the Company are detailed
in the notice of the 8th Annual General Meeting.

•

Directors’ Training
Save and except for Mr Voong Kian Yee, all members
of the Board have attended Mandatory Accreditation
Programme (MAP). Mr Voong will complete MAP
within the regulated timeframe of 4 months from his
date of appointment on 27 April 2011.
The Board acknowledges that continuous training
is essential for the Directors to be equipped to
effectively discharge their duties. In this respect, the
Directors have attended, among others, the following
conferences, seminars and training programmes in
2010:

	Capital Market & Economic
• Credit Suisse Market Outlook Seminar
• Economics and Capital Markets I: Forces Shaping
Global Capital Markets
• Essential of Fundamental Analystics I : Analysing
Company Performance
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corporate governance
statement (cont’d)
	Corporate Governance and Management
• Board of Directors’ Workshop
• Marketplace Conference on Transformation
• Relational Management
Technology and Operations Management
• Xerox Premier Partners Congress
Manchester

			
		
Executive
		
Director
		
(RM)
Salaries and other emoluments

2010,

	Communication, Leadership and Others
• Himalaya & Beyond – the Terrain Convoy 2010
Expedition
• Toastmasters Training
The Directors will continue to attend relevant training
programmes to further enhance their skills and
knowledge as well as to keep abreast with new
developments for the furtherance of their duties.

(B) Directors’ Remuneration

NonExecutive
Director
(RM)

1,411,820

54,000

Fees

-

-

Bonus

-

-

17,400

-

1,429,220

54,000

Benefit in kind
Total

The remuneration of the Directors are summarised in
bands of RM50,000.00 for the financial year ended 31
December 2010 are as follows:		
Number of Directors
			
NonRange of Remuneration
Executive
Executive
Below RM50,000		

3

The Board recognised the important of having
remuneration framework for Directors as well as the
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors, which
should be structured to link rewards to corporate and
individual performance.

RM250,001 to RM300,000

1		

RM450,001 to RM500,000

1		

RM650,001 to RM700,000

1		

The details of Directors’ remuneration for the financial
year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows:-

NRC, appointed on 27 April 2011, is entrusted with the
responsibility to recommend to the Board a remuneration
framework for the executive directors with the objective
of providing the remuneration packages necessary
to attract, retain and motivate executive directors for
continual success of the Group.
The determination of remuneration packages of nonexecutive directors should be a matter for the board as a
whole.
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corporate governance
statement (cont’d)
(C)	RELATIONSHIP
INVESTORS

WITH

SHAREHOLDERS

AND

(D) Accountability and Audit
•

Financial Reporting
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the
quarterly reports and annual financial statements
in the annual report are presented in a manner
that provides a clear, balance and understandable
assessment of the Group’s financial performance and
prospect. The Audit Committee assists the Board by
reviewing the information to be disclosed to ensure
accuracy and adequacy.

•

Internal Control
The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining
a sound system of internal controls to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s and
Group’s assets. A Statement of Internal Control is set
out in pages 20 to 21 of this Annual Report providing
an overview of the state of internal controls within
the Group.

•

Relationship with the Auditors
The Company has established a formal and
transparent relationship with the Group’s external
auditors, Messrs Poh & Co. In the course of audit of
the Group’s financial statements, the external auditors
have highlighted to the Audit Committee and the
Board, matters that require the Board’s attention.

The Annual General Meeting is the principal forum for
dialogue with shareholders. Shareholders are provided
with an opportunity to participate in the question and
answer session in which shareholders may raise questions
regarding the proposed resolutions at the meeting as
well as on matters relating to the Group's businesses
and affairs. The Chairman and the Board members are in
attendance to respond to shareholders’ queries.
The Board also keeps Shareholders informed via
announcement, and timely release of quarterly financial
results, press releases, annual reports and circular to
shareholders.
EFFICIENT has also conducted numerous company visits
and meetings with analysts, fund managers, investors
and media representatives.
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Statement on Compliance with the Code
The Group complied with the principles and best practices of
the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance throughout the
financial year 31 December 2010, save as explained above.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The financial statements of the Group as set out in this Report
are properly drawn so as to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and Company as at 31 December
2010 and the results of its operations and of the cash flow of
the Group and the Company for the financial year.

The directors are responsible to ensure that the Company
maintains accounting records that discloses with reasonable
accuracy at any time, the financial position of the Group and
Company, and to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act, 1965 and applicable approved
accounting standards in Malaysia.
The directors have responsibility for taking reasonable steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and prevent any fraud as
well as irregularities.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has:•
•
•

selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently;
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent; and
applied applicable accounting standards in preparing the
financial statements.
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internal control
statement
The Internal Control Statement is made pursuant to Paragraph
15.26 (b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Listing Requirements”) with
regard to the Group’s compliance with the principles and Best
Practices provisions relating to internal control as provided in
the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance and guided by
the Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of
Public Listed Companies.
The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility in
maintaining a sound system of internal control. The system of
internal control of the Group (excluding associated companies,
as the Board does not have control over their operations) aims
to:-

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system are
described below:
(i)

A defined organisation structure that is aligned to business
and operations requirements and each strategic function
is headed by a responsible head of department. The Group
has laid down line of accountability and responsibility,
approval, authorisation, and control procedures throughout
the Group.

(ii) The Group’s management team carries out regular
monitoring and review of financial results for all
businesses within the Group and the operational and
financial performance of the Group and formulate action
plan to address areas of concern.

(a) safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s
assets;
(b) ensure that proper accounting records are maintained;
and
(c) ensure that the financial information used within the
business and for publication to the public is reliable

(iii) Regular and comprehensive financial information is
provided to the Audit Committee for quarterly and adhoc review and to present to the Board for review and
approval.

The internal control system is an ongoing process designed
to manage the risks associated with operations, financial and
compliance. However, the Board is aware that such a system
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

(iv) The Group’s management team undertakes on-going
reviews of the key commercial and financial risks facing
the Group’s businesses together with more general
risks such as those relating to compliance with laws and
regulations. The monitoring arrangements in place give
reasonable assurance that there is an acceptable level of
risk throughout the Group’s business.
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(v) The establishment of an internal audit department to
assist the Audit Committee and the Board in providing
independent assessment on the adequacy, efficiency
and effectiveness of internal control system and
recommending measures to enhance the internal
control system and assuring proper governance process.
The internal audit department undertakes regular and
systematic review in accordance with the audit plan and
scope duly approved by Audit Committee in accordance
with the audit Charter.

There were no material losses incurred during the current
financial year as a result of weaknesses in internal control. The
Board and Management continue to take appropriate measures
to strengthen the control environment of the Group.

Subsequent to the financial year, the Audit Committee has
appointed a risk consulting firm to carry out the internal
audit function in view of the resignation of the in-house
internal auditors.

Pursuant to Paragraph 15.23 Listing Requirements, the
Company’s external auditors, Messrs Poh & Co, have reviewed
and confirmed that nothing has to their attention that causes
them to believe that this statement is inconsistent with their
understanding of the processes adopted by the Board in
reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the system of internal
control.

(vi) The Audit Committee holds regular meetings to review
the findings of internal audit reviews conducted and the
action plans drawn up by management to address the
findings.

The Group continues to take the necessary measures to
further strengthen its internal control.

Review by External Auditors

(vii) Annual audit by certification body to ensure compliance
with all the requirements of ISO 9001 and ISO 27001.
These certifications serve as an assurance to customers
of the delivery of the highest quality of products and
services by the Group and the effectiveness of information
security management.
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Additional Compliance
Information
(i)	Share Buy Backs

(vii) Profit Guarantee

The Company did not seek the shareholders’ approval
for share buy-back authority for the financial year.
(ii)	Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities

The Company and its subsidiaries did not give any profit
guarantee during the financial year.
(viii)	Material Contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 28 to the Financial Statements,
the Company did not issue any options, warrants or
convertible securities during the financial year,
(iii)	American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) or Global
Depository Receipt (“GDR”)
During the financial year, the Company and its subsidiaries
did not sponsor any ADR or GDR programme.
(iv)	Sanctions and/ or Penalties
There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the
Company and its subsidiaries, directors or management
by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial
year.
(v)	Non-Audit Fees
There was no non-audit fee paid by the Company to
external auditors or company affiliated to the external
auditor’s firm for the financial year.

There were no material contracts including loans (not
being contract entered into the ordinary course of
business) of the Company and its subsidiaries, involving
Directors’ and major shareholders’ interests, which
subsisted at the end of the financial year ended 31
December 2010 or, if not then subsisting, entered into
since the end of the previous financial year.
(ix)	Revaluation Policy on landed properties
The Company and its subsidiaries did not adopt any
revaluation policy on landed properties during the
financial year.
(x)	Recurrent Related Party Transactions
Pursuant to 10.09 of the Main Market Listing
Requirement, the Company will be seeking shareholders’
mandate for the Group to enter into Recurrent Related
Party Transactions of revenue or trading nature at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
The aggregate values of transactions, conducted during
the financial year, pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate,
are disclosed in Note 32 to the Financial Statements.

(vi)	Variance in Results
There was no significant variation between the audited
results for the financial year and unaudited results
previously announced.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for
the financial year ended 31st December 2010.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 5 to the financial statements.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.
RESULTS
Group
Company
RM
RM
			
Profit for the year
12,467,633
1,267,654
Attributable to:		
Owners of the Company
12,467,633
Minority interest
-

1,267,654
-

12,467,633

1,267,654

			
In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year have not been
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.
RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year except as disclosed in the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
DIVIDEND
The amount of dividends declared and paid by the Company since 31st December 2009 were as follows:
RM 		
In respect of the financial year ended 31st December 2009		
- Second interim dividend of 1.5% tax exempted, paid on 2nd April 2010
987,525
- Special dividend of 13.5% tax exempted, paid on 2nd April 2010
8,887,727
			
In respect of the financial year ended 31st December 2010			
- First interim dividend of 1.5% tax exempted, paid on 5th January 2011
987,525
10,862,777

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
There was no issue of shares or debentures by the Company during the financial year.
EMPLOYEES’ SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company had obtained approval of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and shareholders to establish the Employees’ Share Option
Scheme (ESOS). The ESOS allows the granting of options to the eligible employees and Executive Directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries to subscribe for new shares up to a maximum of 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company at any point in
time during the tenure of the ESOS.
The ESOS was granted to eligible employees on 16th November 2005. As at the financial year end, all options had been exercised by eligible
employees.
The Company had on 2nd February 2010 and 24th February 2010 obtained approvals from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and shareholders
respectively to establish an Executives’ Share Option Scheme (ESOS). The ESOS allows the granting of options to the eligible Executives
and Executive Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries to subscribe for new shares up to a maximum of 15% of the issued and paid-up
share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at any point in time during the tenure of the ESOS.
However, the Company has not granted any option during the financial year.
Subsequent to the financial year end, on 15th March 2011, the Company has offered 65,755,000 options to its eligible employees.

25

Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
Annual Report 2010

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
DIRECTORS
The directors who served since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:
Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah
Cheah Chee Kong
Victor Cheah Chee Wai
Soon Yoke Leng
Datuk Syed Hussian bin Syed Junid
Ho Hin Choy
Dato’ Shaik Aqmal bin Shaik Allaudin		
(Resigned on 30.11.2010)
DIRECTORS’ INTEREST
Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company is a
party, whereby directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
The shareholdings of those who were directors at the financial year end in shares in the Company and its related corporations during the
financial year are as follows:
Number of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
At			
At
The Company
01.1.2010
Bought
Sold
31.12.2010
					
Direct Interest					
Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah
10,885,400
(2,000,000)
8,885,400
Cheah Chee Kong
9,734,500
9,734,500
Victor Cheah Chee Wai
6,000,000
6,000,000
Soon Yoke Leng
6,000,000
6,000,000
Datuk Syed Hussian bin Syed Junid
7,229,800
7,229,800
Ho Hin Choy
					
Indirect Interest					
Cheah Chee Kong
213,995,000
213,995,000
Victor Cheah Chee Wai
213,995,000
213,995,000
Soon Yoke Leng
106,200,000
106,200,000
Cheah Chee Kong, Victor Cheah Chee Wai and Soon Yoke Leng, by virtue of their direct and indirect interest in shares of the Company are
also deemed interested in shares of all the related corporations to the extent to which the Company has an interest.
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive any benefit (other than those as disclosed
in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which
the director is a member or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest as required to be disclosed by Section
169(8) of the Companies Act, 1965.
OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION
(a)

(b)

Before the statements of financial position and statements of comprehensive income of the Group and of the Company were made
up, the directors took reasonable steps:
(i)

to ascertain that proper action has been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for doubtful
debts and satisfied themselves that there were no bad and doubtful debts; and

(ii)

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as shown in the accounting records in the ordinary
course of business have been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:
(i)

it necessary to write off any bad debt or to make an allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of
the Company; or

(ii)

the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

(c)

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render adherence to the existing
method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(d)

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial
statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

(e)

At the date of this report, there does not exist:
(i)

any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures
the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii)

any contingent liability in respect of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (CONT’D)
(f)

In the opinion of the directors:
(i)

no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve
months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their
obligations as and when they fall due; and

(ii)

no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and
the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the
financial year in which this report is made.

AUDITORS
The retiring auditors, Messrs. Poh & Co., have expressed their intention not to seek re-appointment.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

CHEAH CHEE KONG

VICTOR CHEAH CHEE WAI

Kuala Lumpur
Date :
27 April 2011
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION	
AS AT 31ST DECEMBER 2010							
Group
Note

2010
RM

2009
RM

Company
2010
RM

2009
RM

ASSETS							
Non Current Assets							
Property, plant and equipment
3
43,994,031
46,391,892
138,545
165,799
Prepaid lease payments
4
359,285
364,075
Investment in subsidiary companies
5
9,100,002
9,100,002
Investment in associated companies
6
3,267,355
2,940,748
2,100,000
2,100,000
Other investments
7
579,325
579,325
200,000
200,000
Software development expenditure
8
293,722
454,063
Goodwill on consolidation
9
1,582,719
1,582,719
		

50,076,437

52,312,822

11,538,547

11,565,801

Current Assets							
Inventories
10
2,520,832
2,095,598
Trade receivables
11
23,228,475
15,395,754
Other receivables
12
2,460,742
2,362,654
3,078
1,018
Amount due from subsidiary companies
13
34,127,899
32,131,717
Current tax assets		
538,879
467,862
29,085
17,987
Dividend receivable		
10,000,000
Investment securities
14
10,791,902
8,063,714
8,730,516
6,043,702
Deposits with licensed banks
15
14,086,352
30,471,183
13,698,579
25,422,633
Cash and bank balances
16
10,089,576
2,943,585
21,544
30,503
		

63,716,758

61,800,350

56,610,701

73,647,560

TOTAL ASSETS		

113,793,195

114,113,172

68,149,248

85,213,361

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES							
Equity attributable to owners of the Company							
Share capital
17
65,835,010
65,835,010
65,835,010
65,835,010
Share premium
18
500
500
500
500
Retained earnings		
34,034,126
32,429,270
1,054,034
10,649,157
		

99,869,636

98,264,780

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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66,889,544

76,484,667

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)
AS AT 31ST DECEMBER 2010							
Group
Note

2010
RM

2009
RM

Company
2010
RM

2009
RM

Non Current Liabilities							
Hire purchase payable
19
88,235
189,151
Term loans
20
6,030,208
6,913,926
Deferred tax liabilities
21
2,806,605
2,698,900
6,354
5,104
		

8,925,048

9,801,977

6,354

5,104

Current Liabilities							
Trade payables
22
1,568,017
1,631,630
Other payables
23
2,355,629
3,417,195
43,300
63,540
Amount due to subsidiary companies
13
1,210,050
8,660,050
Hire purchase payable
19
100,916
95,467
Term loans
20
898,762
870,395
Current tax liabilities		
75,187
31,728
		

4,998,511

6,046,415

1,253,350

8,723,590

TOTAL LIABILITIES		

13,923,559

15,848,392

1,259,704

8,728,694

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		

113,793,195

114,113,172

68,149,248

85,213,361

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2010							
Group

Company
2010
RM

2010
RM

2009
RM

Revenue
24
Cost of sales		

58,750,688
(31,922,710)

65,454,245
(32,786,739)

1,000,000
-

12,300,000
-

Gross profit		
Other operating income		
Administrative and operating expenses		

26,827,978
1,387,602
(14,470,892)

32,667,506
957,366
(15,204,417)

1,000,000
584,476
(271,670)

12,300,000
608,420
(330,469)

Profit from operations		
Finance costs		
Share of profit of associates		

13,744,688
(456,619)
326,606

18,420,455
(489,341)
669,083

1,312,806
-

12,577,951
-

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

25
29

13,614,675
(1,147,042)

18,600,197
(1,864,699)

1,312,806
(45,152)

12,577,951
(42,172)

Profit for the year		
Other comprehensive income		

12,467,633
-

16,735,498
-

1,267,654
-

12,535,779
-

Total comprehensive income for the financial year		

12,467,633

16,735,498

1,267,654

12,535,779

Note

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the
Company (sen per share)
- Basic

30

1.89

2.54				

- Diluted

30

-

- 				

								

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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2009
RM

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2010							
Share
Capital
RM

Share
Premium
RM

Retained
Earnings
RM

Total
RM

Balance as at 1st January 2009		

65,810,010

-

17,010,472

82,820,482

Issuance of shares pursuant to ESOS		

25,000

500

-

25,500

31

-

-

(1,316,700)

(1,316,700)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year		

-

-

16,735,498

16,735,498

Balance as at 31st December 2009		

65,835,010

500

32,429,270

98,264,780

31

-

-

(10,862,777)

(10,862,777)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year		

-

-

12,467,633

12,467,633

Balance as at 31st December 2010		

65,835,010

500

34,034,126

99,869,636

		
		
Note

Dividends

Dividends

					

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2010							
		
		
Note

Share
Capital
RM

Share
Premium
RM

Retained
Earnings
RM

Total
RM

Balance as at 1st January 2009		

65,810,010

-

(569,922)

65,240,088

Issuance of shares pursuant to ESOS		

25,000

500

-

25,500

31

-

-

(1,316,700)

(1,316,700)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year		

-

-

12,535,779

12,535,779

Balance as at 31st December 2009		

65,835,010

500

10,649,157

76,484,667

31

-

-

(10,862,777)

(10,862,777)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year		

-

-

1,267,654

1,267,654

Balance as at 31st December 2010		

65,835,010

500

1,054,034

66,889,544

Dividends

Dividends

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2010							
		
Note

2010
RM

2009
RM

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES				
Profit before taxation		
13,614,675
18,600,197
				
Adjustments for:				
Allowance for diminution in value of investment		
1,310,800
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments		
4,790
4,791
Amortisation of software development expenditure		
160,341
186,126
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		
4,495,338
4,523,351
Gain on disposal of investment in associated company		
(269,449)
(Gain) / Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
(45,534)
63,534
Gain on disposal of short term investment		
(381,681)
Gain on foreign exchange - realised		
(5,613)
Utilisation of tax credit for payment of tax penalty		
5,838
Interest income		
(405,834)
(205,030)
Interest expenses		
456,619
489,341
Investment income		
(255,906)
(80,792)
Reversal on property, plant and equipment capitalised in prior year		
7,630
Share of results of associated companies		
(326,606)
(669,083)
Operating profit before changes in working capital		
(Increase) / Decrease in inventories		
(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables		
Decrease in trade and other payables		

17,434,272
(425,234)
(7,930,809)
(1,125,179)

23,843,571
1,542,221
14,466,656
(1,162,981)

Cash generated from operations		
Tax paid, net of tax refunded		
Dividends paid		

7,953,050
(1,072,734)
(10,862,777)

38,689,467
(1,657,130)
(1,316,700)

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities		

(3,982,461)

35,715,637

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (cont’d)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2010							
		
Note

2010
RM

2009
RM

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES				
Fixed deposits uplifted		
183,771
Gain on disposal of short term investment		
387,294
Interest from deposits with licensed banks		
405,834
205,030
Increase in pledged deposits for financing facilities		
(7,546)
(205,571)
Increase in securities available for sale		
(2,728,188)
(8,063,714)
Investment income		
255,906
80,792
Proceeds from disposal of associated company		
269,449
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		
159,000
160,299
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
A
(2,210,943)
(2,871,893)
Capitalisation of software development expenditure		
(13,020)
Net cash used in investing activities		

(3,672,717)

(10,320,783)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES				
Repayment of term loan		
(855,351)
(810,317)
Repayment of hire purchase payable		
(95,467)
(88,655)
Interest expense		
(456,619)
(489,341)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares		
25,500
Net cash used in financing activities		

(1,407,437)

(1,362,813)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year		

(9,062,615)
32,946,985

24,032,041
8,914,944

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year

23,884,370

32,946,985

16

Note A:				
Property, plant and equipment purchased were by means of:				
				
Cash		
2,210,943
2,871,893
Hire purchase		
300,000
		

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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2,210,943

3,171,893

COmpany STATEMENT of CASH FLOW
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2010							
		
Note

2010
RM

2009
RM

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES				
Profit before taxation		
1,312,806
12,577,951
				
Adjustments for:				
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		
27,254
27,254
Dividend income		
(1,000,000)
(12,300,000)
Interest income		
(369,943)
(165,959)
Investment income		
(214,532)
(442,461)
Operating loss before changes in working capital		
(244,415)
(303,215)
				
Increase in account receivables		
(2,060)
(Decrease) / Increase in account payables		
(20,240)
41,240
Decrease in subsidiaries account		
1,553,818
30,124,562
Cash generated from operations		
Tax paid, net of tax refunded		
Dividends paid		

1,287,103
(55,000)
(10,862,777)

29,862,587
(31,052)
(1,316,700)

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities		

(9,630,674)

28,514,835

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividend income		
Interest from deposits		
Investment income		
Increase in securities available for sale		

369,943
214,532
(2,686,814)

2,300,000
165,959
442,461
(6,043,702)

Net cash generated from investing activities		

(2,102,339)

(3,135,282)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY				
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares		
25,500
Net cash generated from financing activity		

-

25,500

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents		
(11,733,013)
25,405,053
				
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year		
25,453,136
48,083
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year

16

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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13,720,123

25,453,136

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31ST DECEMBER 2010
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office and principal place of business is situated at No. 3, Jalan Astaka U8/82, Taman
Perindustrian Bukit Jelutong, Seksyen U8, Bukit Jelutong, 40150 Shah Alam, Selangor.
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 5
of the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 27
April 2011.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES
(a)

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost basis, unless otherwise
indicated in the significant accounting policies. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standards (FRS) and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. At the beginning of the current financial year, the
Group and the Company adopted new and revised FRSs which are mandatory for the financial periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2010 as described fully in Note 2 (b).
The financial statements of each entity in the Group are presented in the functional currency, which is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The functional currency of the Company is Ringgit Malaysia (RM)
as the sales and purchases are mainly denominated in RM and receipts from operations are usually retained in RM and funds
from financing activities are generated in RM. For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial
position of each entity are expressed in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation
currency for the consolidated financial statements.
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with FRSs requires the use of certain accounting estimates and exercise
of judgment. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on past experience, reasonable expectations of
future events and other factors.
There are no areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(b)

Changes In Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:
On 1st January 2010, the Group and the Company adopted the following new and amended FRSs and IC Interpretations
mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1st January 2010.

FRS 7
FRS 8
FRS 101
FRS 123
FRS 139
Amendments to FRS 1
Amendments to FRS 132
Amendments to FRS 139
		
IC Interpretation 9
IC Interpretation 10
IC Interpretation 11
IC Interpretation 13
IC Interpretation 14

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Operating Segments
Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised 2009)
Borrowing Costs
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards
Financial Instruments: Presentation
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, FRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures and IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment Of Embedded Derivatives
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
FRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
Customer Loyalty Programmes
FRS 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and Their 		
Interaction

Adoption of the above standards and interpretations and improvements to FRSs issued in 2010 did not have any effect on
the financial performance, position or presentation of financials of the Group and of the Company except for those disclosed
below:
(i)

FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Prior to 1st January 2010, information about financial instruments was disclosed in accordance with the requirements of
FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Presentation. FRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information
about financial instruments. It requires disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising
from financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk, including sensitivity
analysis to market risk.
The Group and the Company have applied FRS 7 prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions of the Standard.
Hence, the new disclosures have not been applied to the comparatives. The new disclosures are included throughout the
Group and the Company’s financial statements for the financial year ended 31st December 2010.

38

Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
Annual Report 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(b)

Changes In Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(ii)

FRS 8 Operating Segments
FRS 8, which replaces FRS 114 Segment Reporting, specifies how an entity should report information about the components
of the entity that is available to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the segments
and assessing their performance. The Standard also requires the disclosure of information about the products and services
provided by the segments, the geographical areas in which the Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major
customers. The Group concluded that the reportable operating segments determined in accordance with FRS 8 are the
same as the business segments previously identified under FRS 114. The Group does not expect significant changes in its
segment information under FRS 8.

(iii)

FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised 2009)
The revised FRS 101 introduces changes in the presentation and disclosures of financial statements. The revised Standard
separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes only details of transactions
with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. The Standard also introduces the statement
of comprehensive income, with all other items of recognised income and expense recognised directly in equity, either in
one single statement, or in two linked statements. The Group and the Company have elected to present this statement as
one single statement.
In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning of the earliest comparative period following a
change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or the classification of items in the financial statements.
The revised FRS 101 also requires the Group and the Company to make new disclosures to enable the users of the financial
statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. The revised FRS 101 was
adopted retrospectively by the Group and the Company.

(iv)

FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
FRS 139 established principles for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to
buy and sell non-financial items. The Group and the Company has adopted FRS 139 prospectively on 1st January 2010
in accordance with the transitional provisions. This adaption does not have any material financial impact to the financial
statements for the current financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(c)

Standards Issued but not yet Effective
The Group has not applied in advance the following standards, amendments and interpretations which have been issued but are
not yet effective:
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st March 2010
Amendments to FRS 132

Financial Instruments: Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July 2010
FRS 1
FRS 3
FRS 127
Amendments to FRS 2
Amendments to FRS 5
Amendments to FRS 138
IC Interpretation 12
IC Interpretation 16
IC Interpretation 17
Amendments to IC Interpretation 9

First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards
Business Combinations (Revised)
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Share-based Payment
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
Intangible Assets
Service Concession Agreements
Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2011
Amendments to FRS 1

Limited Exemption from Comparative FRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters and 		
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters
Amendments to FRS 2
Group Cash-settled Share Based Payment Transactions
Amendments to FRS 7
Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
Annual Improvements To FRSs (2010) Improvements to FRSs (2010)
IC Interpretation 4
Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease
IC Interpretation 18
Transfer of Assets from Customers
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July 2011
IC Interpretation 19
Amendments to IC Interpretation 14

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(c)

Standards Issued but not yet Effective (Cont’d)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2012
FRS 124
IC Interpretation 15

Related Party Disclosures (Revised)
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

The Group and the Company plan to apply the abovementioned standards, amendments and interpretations in the respective
financial year when the above standards, amendments and interpretations become effective.
The Directors expect that the adoption of a standard, an amendment or an interpretation, which will be applied prospectively
or which requires extended disclosures, will have no significant impact on the financial statements in the period of initial
application.
The other standards, amendments, interpretations and improvements are either not applicable or are not expected to have any
material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company.
(d)

Subsidiaries and Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the ability to control the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits
from their activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group has such power over another entity.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less impairment losses, if any.
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the financial
year end.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full.
Acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using purchase method. Under the purchase method of accounting, identifiable
assets acquired and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the date
of acquisition. Adjustments to those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in
other comprehensive income. The cost of a business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued, plus any costs directly attributable
to the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(d)

Subsidiaries and Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)
Any excess of the cost of business combination over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill on the statement of financial position. The accounting policy
for goodwill is set out in Note 2 (g). Any excess of the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of business combination is recognised as income in profit or loss on the
date of acquisition. When the Group acquires a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree
are reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination results in a change in terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.
Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and are presented
separately in profit and loss of the Group and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial position, separately from
parent shareholders’ equity. Transactions with minority interests are accounted for as transactions with owners. On acquisition of
minority interests, the difference between the consideration and book value of the share of the net assets acquired is recognised
directly in equity. Gain or loss on disposal to minority interests is recognised directly in equity.

(e)

Investment In Associates
An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.
Investment in associates is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment in associate is measured in the statement of financial position at cost plus postacquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. Goodwill relating to associates is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is
instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss for the period in which the
investment is acquired.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment
loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(e)

Investment In Associates (Cont’d)
The financial statements of the associates are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses. On disposal
of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.

(f)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The policy for the
recognition and measurement of impairment loss is in accordance with Note 2 (h).
Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Long term leasehold building is amortised over its
lease term and the remaining period of the lease is 75 years. On other property, plant and equipment, depreciation is calculated
on the straight line method to write off the cost of each asset over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation of an asset begins
when it is ready for its intended use.
The annual rates of depreciation used are:
Buildings
Computer equipment
Electrical fittings
Furniture and fittings
Machinery
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
Renovation
Signboard

2%
10% - 40%
20%
20%
10%
10%
10% - 40%
10%
10%

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end to ensure that the amount,
method and period of depreciation are consistent with the previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the
future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any and the net carrying amount is included in the profit
and loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(g)

Intangible Assets
(i)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or a proportionately consolidated jointly controlled entity, being the excess
of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities recognised, is initially measured at cost and recognised as an asset. Goodwill is subsequently
measured at cost less impairment losses, if any.
On disposal of a subsidiary or a proportionately consolidated jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

(ii)

Software development expenditures
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditures which do not meet these criteria are expensed when incurred.
Development costs, considered to have finite useful lives, are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised
using the straight line basis over the period of five years. Impairment is assessed whenever there is an indication of
impairment and the amortisation period and method are also reviewed at each reporting date.

(h)

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The Group assesses at each financial year end whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, The Group makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash
generating units (“CGU”)). In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(g)

Impairment of Non-financial Assets (Cont’d)
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation was
taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the
amount of any previous revaluation.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior
periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if no impairment loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(i)

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after adequate allowance has been made for all deteriorated,
damaged, obsolete or slow-moving inventories. Cost, is determined principally on the first-in first-out basis and includes, where
relevant, appropriate proportions of inward overheads.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(j)

Leased Assets
Assets financed by hire purchase and lease arrangements that transfer substantially all risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are capitalised as property, plant and equipment and the corresponding obligations are treated as liabilities. These
property, plant and equipment capitalised are depreciated on the same basis as owned assets.
Finance charges on these hire purchase and lease arrangements are allocated to statement of comprehensive income over the
period of the arrangements to give a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability at the end of each accounting
period.
Lease of assets under which all risks and benefits of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating lease.
Payments made under operating lease are charged to statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the
period of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(j)

Leased Assets (Cont’d)
In the case of a lease of land, the minimum lease payments or the up-front payments made represents prepaid land lease
payments and are recognised on a straight-line basis.
When operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way
of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

(k)

Provisions for Liabilities
Provisions for liabilities are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations, and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where
the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to
be required to settle the obligation.

(l)

Foreign Currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially translated at the exchange rate at the dates of the transactions.
At the reporting date, foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Ringgit Malaysia at the exchange rate
ruling at that date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in statement
of comprehensive income.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using exchange rates at the
date of the transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
The principal closing rates used in translation of foreign currencies amounts are as follow:

		
2010
		
RM
		
1 AUS Dollar
1 SG Dollar
2.430
1 US Dollar
3.058
100 HK Dollar
40.133
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2009
RM
3.0649
2.4401
3.4245
44.1595

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(m) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at bank, deposit at call and short
term highly liquid investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts.
(n)

Interest-bearing Borrowings
Borrowing costs are charged to statement of comprehensive income as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.

(o)

Other Non-Current Investments
Non-current investments other than investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less impairment losses. On
disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in statement of
comprehensive income.

(p)

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised in the statements of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of financial instruments.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
The Group determines the classification of their financial assets at initial recognition, and the categories include financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they are held for trading or are
designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets held for trading are derivatives (Including separated embedded
derivates) or financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains
or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss do not include exchange differences, interest and dividend income. Exchange differences,
interest and dividend income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised separately in profit or loss
as part of other losses or other income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(p)

Financial Assets (Cont’d)
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Cont’d)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss could be presented as current or non-current. Financial assets that are
held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current whereas financial assets that are not held primarily for trading
purposes are presented as current or non-current based on the settlement date.

(ii)

Loans and receivables
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and
receivables.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through
the amortisation process.
Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than 12 months after
the reporting date which are classified as non-current.

(iii)

Held-to-maturity investments
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the Group
has the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity.
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the held-to-maturity investments are derecognised or
impaired, and through the amortisation process.
Held-to-maturity investments are classified as non-current assets, except for those having maturity within 12 months after
the reporting date which are classified as current.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(p)

Financial Assets (Cont’d)
(iv)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of
the three preceding categories.
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in
fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income except that impairment losses, foreign
exchange losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in
profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.
Investment in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment
loss.
Available-for sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets unless they are expected to be realised within 12
months after the reporting date.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On derecognition
of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit and loss.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(q)

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is
impaired.
(i)

Trade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the Group
and the Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor
and default or significant delay in payments. For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets
that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on
similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s and the
Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a
trade receivable becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit
or loss.

(ii)

Unquoted securities carried at cost
If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where the issuer operates,
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried
at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(q)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Cont’d)
(iii)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, and the
disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence that
investment securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are impaired.
If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is
transferred from equity to profit or loss.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in profit or loss in the subsequent periods.
Increase in fair value, if any, subsequent to impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. For available-forsale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed in profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the
investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in profit or loss.

(r)

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual agreements entered into and the liabilities
designated upon initial definitions of a financial liability.
Financial liabilities, within the scope of FRS 139, are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group and the
Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities.
(i)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by the Group and the Company that do not meet the
hedge accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently stated at fair value, with
any resultant gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on derivative include exchange differences.
The Group and the Company have not designated any financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(r)

Financial Liabilities (Cont’d)
(ii)

Other financial liabilities
The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and loans and borrowings.
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and
through the amortisation process.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
(iii)

Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specific payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specific debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, financial guarantee contracts are recognised as income in profit or loss over the period of the guarantee.
If the debtor fails to make payment relating to financial guarantee contract when it is due and the Group, as the issuer,
is required to reimburse the holder for the associated loss, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation.

52

Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
Annual Report 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(s)

Equity Instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the Company after
deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments.
Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. Ordinary shares
are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared.

(t)

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
(i)

Trading income
Revenue is recognised in statement of comprehensive income upon services rendered or when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer.

(ii)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

(iii)

Interest income
Interest on deposit is accounted for on accrual basis using the effective interest method.

(u)

Income Tax
Income tax on the profit and loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected amount of income
taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured using the tax rates that have been enacted at the
reporting date.
Deferred tax is provided for using the liability method, on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax base of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(u)

Income Tax (Cont’d)
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also charged or credited directly to equity, or when it arises from a business combination that is
an acquisition, in which case the deferred tax is included in the resulting goodwill or negative goodwill.

(v)

Employee Benefits
(i)

Short term benefits
Wages, salaries, bonus and social contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees of the subsidiaries. Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave
are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences.
Short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(ii)

Defined contribution plans
As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the Employees Provident Fund (EPF). Such contributions
are recognised as an expense in statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

(iii)

Share-based payment transactions
The Company had on 2nd February 2010 and 24th February 2010 obtained approvals from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
and shareholders respectively to establish an Executives’ Share Option Scheme (ESOS). The share option programme
allows Group employees to acquire shares of the Company.
The Company has not granted any option during the financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCONTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(w) Related Parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(x)

(i)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Group;
has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group;
has joint control over the Group

(ii)

the party is an associate;

(iii)

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iv)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(v)

the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv); and

(vi)

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or (v).

Contingencies
A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the Group.
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company.
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3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

		
		
Group
		

Land and
Buildings		
[Note 3(a)] Machinery
RM
RM

Motor
vehicles
RM

Office
equipment
RM

Computer
equipment
RM

Furniture
and fittings
RM

Electrical
fittings
RM

Renovation
RM

Signboard
RM

Total
RM

Net Book Value										
As at 01.01.2010
30,388,546 12,990,431 1,912,185
925,095
10,533
62,360
18,489
78,152
6,101 46,391,892
Additions
472,231
668,104
627,155
399,798
10,431
33,224
- 2,210,943
Disposals /
Written off
(9,008)
(104,458)
(113,466)
Depreciation charge (1,047,359) (2,484,125)
(279,833)
(620,920)
(1,858)
(30,887)
(8,328)
(20,339)
(1,689) (4,495,338)
As at 31.12.2010

29,813,418 11,165,402

2,155,049

703,973

8,675

41,904

43,385

57,813

4,412 43,994,031

As at 31.12.2010										
Cost
32,460,789 26,376,711 3,063,039 4,940,240 6,411,052
302,686
312,462
294,497
16,890 74,178,366
Accumulated
depreciation
(2,647,371) (15,211,309)
(907,990) (4,236,267) (6,402,377)
(260,782)
(269,077)
(236,684)
(12,478) (30,184,335)
Net Book Value

29,813,418 11,165,402

2,155,049

703,973

8,675

41,904

43,385

57,813

4,412 43,994,031

Net Book Value										
As at 01.01.2009
30,411,624 14,916,103 1,554,674
872,462
12,392
62,714
19,161
117,893
7,790 47,974,813
Additions
945,546
584,701
823,859
777,963
30,084
9,740
- 3,171,893
Reclassification
(7,630)
(7,630)
Disposals /
Written off
(1,817)
(203,395)
(3,929)
(140)
(14,552)
(223,833)
Depreciation charge
(968,624) (2,500,926)
(262,953)
(721,401)
(1,859)
(30,298)
(10,412)
(25,189)
(1,689) (4,523,351)
As at 31.12.2009

30,388,546 12,990,431

1,912,185

925,095

10,533

62,360

18,489

78,152

6,101 46,391,892

As at 31.12.2009										
Cost
31,988,558 26,068,965 2,737,569 4,540,442 6,411,052
292,255
279,238
294,497
16,890 72,629,466
Accumulated
depreciation
(1,600,012) (13,078,534)
(825,384) (3,615,347) (6,400,519)
(229,895)
(260,749)
(216,345)
(10,789) (26,237,574)
Net Book Value

30,388,546 12,990,431

1,912,185

925,095
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

		

Motor vehicle
2010
RM

Company
		

2009
RM

Net Book Value				
As at 1st January
165,799
193,053
Depreciation charge
(27,254)
(27,254)
As at 31st December

138,545

165,799

As at 31st December				
Cost
272,545
272,545
Accumulated depreciation
(134,000)
(106,746)
Net Book Value

(a)

138,545

165,799

Freehold
office lot
RM

Total
RM

Net Book Value				
As at 1st January 2010
849,507
28,169,198
1,369,841
Additions
472,231
Depreciation charge
(11,178)
(1,007,035)
(29,146)

30,388,546
472,231
(1,047,359)

As at 31st December 2010

1,340,695

29,813,418

As at 31st December 2010				
Cost
1,005,996
29,997,514
1,457,279
Accumulated depreciation
(167,667)
(2,363,120)
(116,584)

32,460,789
(2,647,371)

Net Book Value

29,813,418

Land and buildings comprise the followings:
Long term
leasehold
buildings
RM

		
Group

838,329

838,329

57

Freehold
land and
building
RM

27,634,394

27,634,394

Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
Annual Report 2010

1,340,695

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
(a) Land and buildings comprise the followings: (Cont’d)
Long term
leasehold
buildings
RM

		
Group

Freehold
land and
building
RM

Freehold
office lot
RM

Total
RM

Net Book Value				
As at 1st January 2009
860,685
28,151,952
1,398,987
Additions
945,546
Depreciation charge
(11,178)
(928,300)
(29,146)

30,411,624
945,546
(968,624)

As at 31st December 2009

1,369,841

30,388,546

As at 31st December 2009				
Cost
1,005,996
29,525,283
1,457,279
Accumulated depreciation
(156,489)
(1,356,085)
(87,438)

31,988,558
(1,600,012)

Net Book Value

30,388,546

849,507

849,507

28,169,198

28,169,198

1,369,841

The net book values of properties pledged as securities for borrowings are as follows:
		
Group		
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
				
Freehold land and building
27,634,394
28,169,198
Freehold office lot
1,340,695
1,369,841
		

28,975,089

29,539,039

All the properties above have been charged as collateral to secure banking facilities granted to the subsidiary companies.
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3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
The net book value of plant and equipment acquired by means of hire purchase financing facilities are as follows:

		
Group		
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
					
Motor vehicle
491,506
548,768
		
4. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
		
Group		
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
			
Cost
431,141
431,141
			
Less: Accumulated Amortisation			
At beginning of the year
(67,066)
(62,275)
Add: Amortisation during the year
(4,790)
(4,791)
		
At the end of the year

(71,856)

(67,066)

359,285

364,075

The unexpired portion of lease for the leasehold land of the Group as at end of the year is 75 years (2009: 76 years).
5.

INVESTMENT IN subsidiarY COMPANIES

		
Company
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
			
Unquoted shares, at cost
9,100,002
9,100,002
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31ST DECEMBER 2010
5.

INVESTMENT IN subsidiarY COMPANIES (Cont’d)
Details of subsidiaries are as follows:-

			
Place of
Equity interest
Name of subsidiaries
Principal activities
incorporation
2010
2009
					
Efficient Mailcom Sdn. Bhd.
Provision of integrated outsourcing
Malaysia
100%
100%
		
solutions in data and document processing,
		
ranging from data extraction, to conversion,
		
formatting of documents, to data printing
		
and preparation of printed documents for
		
distribution by post.
		
Efficient Softech Sdn. Bhd.
Provision of information technology
Malaysia
100%
100%
		
services, primarily the development of
		
proprietary applications for work-flow
		
management, data conversion and
		
electronic distribution of documents.		
Printegrate Sdn. Bhd.*
		
		
Efficient International
Sdn. Bhd. @

To carry on business relating to web-finishing
products, forms printing, and other related
business documents.

Malaysia

100%

100%

Investment holding company.

Malaysia

100%

100%

All of the subsidiaries were audited by Poh & Co.
*

Held through subsidiary; Efficient Mailcom Sdn. Bhd.

@

The financial statements of this subsidiary company has been prepared on a going concern basis, which is dependent upon
continual financial support from its holding company and a related company to enable it to meet its obligations as and when they
fall due.
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6.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM
							
Unquoted shares, at cost
2,100,000
2,470,800
2,100,000
2,100,000
Share of results of associates
1,167,355
469,948
		

3,267,355

2,940,748

2,100,000

2,100,000

Details of associated companies are as follows:			
Name of companies
Principal activities

Place of
incorporation

Equity interest
2010
2009

Regalia Solutions Sdn. Bhd. ^

Data processing

Malaysia

30%

30%

Regalia Records Management
Sdn. Bhd. ^

Provision of document archiving and
related services

Malaysia

30%

30%

Operation of printing facilities and delivery of
printing and lettershop services to one of its
shareholders

Hong Kong

-

45%

First Leader (Asia) Limited #
		
		
^
#

Shareholding held directly by the Company
Shareholding held through subsidiary; Efficient International Sdn. Bhd.

The results of the associated companies have been equity accounted for based on the management financial statements for the
relevant period.
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6.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (Cont’d)

The summarised financial information of the associated companies are as follows:			
			
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
			
Assets and liabilities			
Current assets
4,409,678
4,436,569
Non-current assets
21,012,392
18,926,601
Total assets
		
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

25,422,070

23,363,170

(8,366,345)
(6,164,533)

(5,691,697)
(9,230,465)

(14,530,878)

(14,922,162)

Results			
Revenue
8,900,309
9,457,757
Profit for the year
1,090,642
1,138,015

On 1st February 2010, Efficient International Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company disposed of its entire equity
interest in First Leader (Asia) Limited. The analysis of net assets of the associated company as at the date of disposal is as follows:
		
At date of
		
disposal
		
RM
			
Investment in First Leader (Asia) Limited, at cost
370,800
Group’s share of losses in First Leader (Asia) Limited
(370,800)
			
Disposal proceeds
269,449
Gain on disposal of associated company

269,449
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7.

OTHER INVESTMENTS

		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM
							
At cost,						
Unquoted ordinary shares, in Malaysia
579,325
579,325
200,000
200,000
Unquoted redeemable cumulative preference shares,
outside Malaysia
1,310,800
Less: Allowance for diminution in value
(1,310,800)
		

8.

579,325

579,325

200,000

200,000

SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT EXPENDTURE

		
		
		

Group		
2010
RM

2009
RM

At Cost			
At beginning of the year
995,233
982,213
Add: Addition during the financial year
13,020
		

995,233

995,233

Less: Accumulated Amortisation			
At beginning of the year
541,170
355,044
Add: Amortisation during the financial year
160,341
186,126
		
At the end of the year
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
9.

GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION

		
Group		
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
					
At cost
1,582,719
1,582,719
Less: Impairment
At end of the year

1,582,719

1,582,719

10. INVENTORIES
		
		
		

Group		

At cost:
Raw material and finished goods

2010
RM

2009
RM

2,520,832

2,095,598

11. TRADE RECEIVABLES
The Group’s normal trade credit terms range from 10 to 60 days. Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a case by case
basis.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to a single receivable or to groups of
receivables.
12. OTHER RECEIVABLES
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM
							
Sundry receivables
133,856
363,479
2,078
Deposits
2,086,478
1,798,291
1,000
1,000
Prepayments
240,408
200,884
18
		

2,460,742
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
13. AMOUNT DUE FROM / (TO) SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
These are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed term of repayment.
14. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
		
		
		

Group
2010
RM

2009
RM

Company
2010
RM

2009
RM

Securities available for sale						
At fair value,						
Quoted trust units in Malaysia with fund management company
10,791,902
8,063,714
8,730,516
6,043,702

15. DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM
						
Free from encumbrances
13,794,794
30,003,400
13,698,579
25,422,633
On lien
291,558
467,783
		

14,086,352

30,471,183

13,698,579

25,422,633

The Group’s deposits which are on lien comprise:
(a)

security deposits of RM229,823 (2009: RM223,882) which are invested in accordance with the Syariah principle of Al Mudharabah
General Investment Account (GIA) as security deposits in respect of Islamic banking facilities granted to a subsidiary company.
These deposits are registered under the name of a director holding in trust for the Company; and

(b)

security deposit of RM61,735 (2009: RM60,130) in respect of bank guarantee granted to a subsidiary company; and

(c)

security deposits of RM Nil (2009: RM183,771) in respect of trade financing facilities granted to a subsidiary Company. These
deposits are registered under the name of third parties holding in trust for the Company.

The effective interest rate of these deposits at the reporting date is between 0.27% to 4.39% (2009: 0.24% to 3.70%) per annum with
maturity periods ranging from 1 month to 15 months.
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31ST DECEMBER 2010
16. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
For the purpose of statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents include the followings:
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM		
					
Cash and bank balances
10,089,576
2,943,585
21,544
30,503
Deposits with licensed banks (Note 15)
13,794,794
30,003,400
13,698,579
25,422,633
		

23,884,370

32,946,985

13,720,123

25,453,136

The deposits with licensed banks exclude the security deposits of RM291,558 (2009: RM467,783) which have been pledged to
licensed banks in respect of the banking facilities granted to the Group.
17. SHARE CAPITAL
Company
2010
RM

		
		
		

2009
RM

Authorised:-			
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
200,000,000
200,000,000
Issued and fully paid:-			
Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each			
At beginning of the year
65,835,010
65,810,010
Issued pursuant to ESOS (Note 28)
25,000
At end of the year - 658,350,100 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
18. SHARE PREMIUM
		
Group / Company
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
					
At beginning of the year
500
Issue of Nil (2009: 250,000) shares at a premium of RM0.002 per share
500
At end of the year

500

500

		
19. HIRE PURCHASE PAYABLE
		
Group
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
					
Future minimum hire purchase payments:				
Amount due within 1 financial year
108,408
108,408
Amount due between 1 and 2 financial years
90,316
108,408
Amount due between 2 and 5 financial years
90,316
		
Future finance charges

198,724
(9,573)

307,132
(22,514)

		

189,151

284,618

Aging analysis:				
Amount due within 1 financial year
100,916
95,467
Amount due between 1 and 2 financial years
88,235
100,916
Amount due between 2 and 5 financial years
88,235
					
88,235
189,151
		

189,151
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
19. HIRE PURCHASE PAYABLE (CONT’D)
Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessors in the event of default.
The effective interest rate applicable to the lease liabilities is 2.80% (2009: 2.80%) per annum.
20. TERM LOANS
		
		
		

Group
2010
RM

2009
RM

Current:			
Term loan - secured
898,762
870,395
Non-current:			
Term loan - secured
6,030,208
6,913,926
			
Current:			
Within 1 year
898,762
870,395
Non-current:			
More than 1 year less than 2 years
958,212
920,282
More than 2 year less than 5 years
3,134,445
3,089,599
5 years or more
1,937,551
2,904,045
		

6,030,208

6,913,926

		

6,928,970

7,784,321

Term loans comprise:
(a)

Term loan I of RM1,100,000, bears interest at a prescribed rate of 3.00% per annum for the first twelve months from the date of
first drawn down of facility, subsequently at a prescribed rate of 5.00% per annum for the next twelve months and thereafter at
0.30% per annum above the lender’s prevailing Base Lending Rate (BLR). It is repayable over a period of 10 years.

(b)

Term loan II of RM8,000,000 is repayable over a period of 10 years with equal monthly installment of RM94,842 commencing on
1st July 2008 and bears interest at the base lending rate of the lender.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
20. TERM LOANS (CONT’D)
Term loans are secured by:
(a)

Term loan I - First party first deed of assignment which upon issuance of strata title, a first legal charge to be created over the
freehold office lot of a subsidiary company, and secured by corporate guarantee from the Company.

(b)

Term loan II - First party first deed of assignment which upon issuance of strata title, a first legal charge to be created over the
land and building of another subsidiary company, and secured by corporate guarantee from the Company.

21. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM		
						
At beginning of the year
2,698,900
2,386,387
5,104
4,008
Transferred (to) / from income statement
80,359
218,744
(1,250)
1,250

Effect on opening balance due to changes in tax rate
Under / (Over) provision in prior year
		

2,779,259
27,346

2,605,131
(99,206)
192,975

3,854
2,500

5,258
(154)
-

2,806,605

2,698,900

6,354

5,104

Balance carried forward represents temporary difference which is due to excess of capital allowances over depreciation of property,
plant and equipment.
22. TRADE PAYABLES
The normal trade credit term granted to the Group ranges from 30 to 90 days.
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31ST DECEMBER 2010
23. OTHER PAYABLES
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM		
						
Sundry payables
1,206,179
1,497,949
2,240
Deposits
131,856
57,460
Accruals
882,765
1,861,786
43,300
61,300
Advance postage received
134,829
		

2,355,629

3,417,195

43,300

63,540

24. revenue
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM		
						
Services rendered less discounts
58,750,688
65,454,245
Dividend income (gross) from subsidiaries
1,000,000
12,300,000
58,750,688
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
25. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
		
		
		

Group
2010
RM

2009
RM

Company
2010
RM

This is stated after charging:
Audit fee				
- current year
43,700
43,700
13,000
- under provision in prior year
1,000
4,600
Allowance for diminution in value of investment
1,310,800
Amortisation of software development expenditure
160,341
186,126
Amortisation of lease rental
4,790
4,791
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
4,495,338
4,523,351
27,254
Foreign exchange loss
- realised
74,933
- unrealised
41,638
Hire purchase interest
12,941
4,131
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
63,534
Rental of premises
266,280
341,698
Staff costs (Note 26)
12,325,466
10,936,957
54,000
Term loan interest
443,678
485,210
-

2009
RM		

13,000
3,000
27,254
54,000
-

and crediting:					
Dividend income from subsidiaries (Gross)
1,000,000
12,300,000
Gain on disposal of associated company
269,449
Gain on disposal of investment with fund management company
41,518
381,681
41,518
381,681
Distribution income from fund investment
214,389
80,792
173,015
60,780
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
45,534
Gain on foreign exchange 						
- realised
5,613
Interest income
405,834
231,625
369,943
165,959
Rental income
408,240
257,655
-
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31ST DECEMBER 2010
26. STAFF COSTS
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM		
						
Salaries and other emoluments
11,270,506
9,963,103
54,000
54,000
Employees Provident Fund
959,109
863,701
Social security contributions
95,851
110,153
		

12,325,466

10,936,957

54,000

54,000

Included in staff costs are the Executive Directors’ and Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration amounting to RM1,411,820 and
RM54,000 respectively (2009: RM1,411,820 and RM54,000 respectively) as disclosed in Note 27. The number of employees in the
Group at the end of the financial year was 377 (2009: 358).
27. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
		
		
		

Group
2010
RM

2009
RM

Company
2010
RM

2009
RM

Directors of the Company
Executive directors:-						
Salaries and other emoluments
1,260,000
1,260,000
Employees Provident Fund and Social Security Contributions
151,820
151,820
		

1,411,820

1,411,820

-

-

Non-Executive directors:-					
Other emoluments
54,000
54,000
54,000
54,000
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31ST DECEMBER 2010
28.	employees share option scheme
The Company had on 2nd February 2010 and 24th February 2010 obtained approvals from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and
shareholders respectively to establish an Executives’ Share Option Scheme (ESOS). The ESOS allows the granting of options to the
eligible Executives and Executive Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries to subscribe for new shares up to a maximum of
15% of the issued and paid-up share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at any point in time during the tenure of the
ESOS.
The Company has not granted any option during the financial year.
Subsequent to the financial year end, on 15th March 2011, the Company has offered 65,755,000 options to its eligible employees.
29.	income tax expense
		
		
		

Group

Malaysian taxation based on the result for the year
Transferred (from) / to deferred taxation

2010
RM

2009
RM

1,087,028
80,359

1,703,572
218,744

Company
2010
RM

2009
RM		

68,113
(1,250)

41,076
1,250

		
1,167,387
1,922,316
66,863
Effect on opening balance due to changes in tax rate
(99,206)
(Over) / Under provision in prior year				
- Income tax
(47,691)
(151,386)
(24,211)
- Deferred tax
27,346
192,975
2,500

42,326
(154)

		

42,172

1,147,042
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
29.	income tax expense (cont’d)
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to the income tax expense
at the effective income tax rate of the Group and the Company are as follows:
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM		
						
Accounting profit
13,614,675
18,600,197
1,312,806
12,577,951
Tax expenses at 25%
3,403,669
4,650,049
328,202
3,144,488
						
Add / (Less): Tax effect of Non deductible expenses
355,687
425,899
36,731
75,390
Depreciation of non-qualifying assets
43,885
266,080
5,563
5,563
Share of profit of associates, net of tax
(81,651)
(167,271)
(Gain) / Loss on disposal of non-qualifying assets
(212)
9,022
Tax exempt income
(2,596,889)
(3,190,083)
(303,633)
(3,185,615)
Others
2,500
2,500
		
1,124,489
1,996,196
66,863
42,326
Effect on opening balance of deferred tax due to
changes in tax rate
(99,206)
(154)
							
(Over) / Under provision in prior year
- Income tax
(47,691)
(151,386)
(24,211)
- Deferred tax
27,346
192,975
2,500
						
Deductible / (Taxable) temporary difference not recognised
42,898
(73,880)
Tax expense

1,147,042
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
29.	income tax expense (cont’d)
Tax exempted income relates to income of one of the subsidiaries which has been granted Multimedia Super Corridor (MSC) status,
for which income derived from development of Crosstalk Data Exchange System (e-TALK) and development of Total Electronic Billing
System (e-DOC) is exempted from tax.
Subject to the agreement of the Inland Revenue Board:(i)

the Company has tax exempt income of approximately RM18,616,000 (2009: RM28,478,855) available for distribution as tax
exempt dividend; and

(ii)

the Company has sufficient tax credit under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 to frank the payment of dividends out of
its entire retained earnings without incurring additional tax liability.

30. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The basic earnings per ordinary share for the financial year has been calculated based on the consolidated net profit for the financial
year divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.
		
2010
2009
					
Consolidated net profit for the financial year (RM)
12,467,633
16,735,498
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen)

658,350,100

658,350,100

1.89

2.54

The Group has no potential ordinary shares in issue as at the statements of financial position date and therefore the basic and fully
diluted earnings per share are the same.
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31ST DECEMBER 2010
31. DIVIDENDS
		
Company
		
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
			
In respect of the financial year ended 31st December 2010			
- First interim dividend of 1.5% tax exempted, paid on 5th January 2011
987,525
			
In respect of the financial year ended 31st December 2009			
- Special dividend of 13.5% tax exempted, paid on 2nd April 2010
8,887,727
- Second interim dividend of 1.5% tax exempted, paid on 2nd April 2010
987,525
- First interim dividend of 2.0% tax exempted, paid on 3rd July 2009
1,316,700
		

10,862,777

1,316,700

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the financial year, the Group has transacted with the following related parties:
Identities of related parties		
		
Regalia Records Management Sdn. Bhd.		
		
First Leader (Asia) Limited		
		
One BPO Sdn. Bhd. (Formerly knowns as VPI International
Sdn. Bhd.) and its subsidiaries (One BPO Group)		
		
Significant related party transaction

Relationships
An associate
A former associate
A company where Dato’ Shaik Aqmal bin Shaik Allaudin’s, a former 		
Director of the Company, has interest.

In the normal course of business, the Group undertakes transactions with certain related parties as listed above. Set out below are the
significant related party transactions for the financial year (in addition to related party disclosures mentioned elsewhere in the financial
statements). The related party transactions described below were carried out on negotiated terms and conditions.
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31ST DECEMBER 2010
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)
				
Group
			
2010
2009
Name of companies
Nature of transactions
RM
RM
				
Regalia Records
Provision of document archiving and related services to Efficient			
Management Sdn. Bhd.
Mailcom Sdn. Bhd.
4,680
4,532
		
		
Rental of vault room for security file storage and related services
		
payable to Efficient Mailcom Sdn. Bhd.
374,220
257,655
One BPO Sdn. Bhd.
Software application developments for data and documents
(Formerly known as VPI
processing and data capture and conversion services and billing
International Sdn. Bhd.) and its of license fee for the usage of e-TALK and e-DOC software
subsidiaries [One BPO Group] applications payable to Efficient Softech Sdn. Bhd.
8,866,354
			
		
Data and documents processing and electronic bill presentment
		
services payable to Efficient Mailcom Sdn. Bhd.
623,094
		
		
		

Management fee for the provision of project management /
administration of data and document processing and electronic bill
presentment services payable to Efficient Mailcom Sdn. Bhd.

144,000

15,352,570		

2,765,333		

144,000

						
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that all the transactions above have been entered into in the normal course of
business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially different from those obtainable in transactions
with unrelated parties.
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31ST DECEMBER 2010
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)
The outstanding balances with related parties as at 31st December are as follows:
		
		
		

Group
2010
RM

2009
RM

Trade receivables and other receivables				
			
One BPO Group
2,357,243
240,605
Trade and other payables				
			
One BPO Group
118,814
82,786
*Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors (as disclosed in Note 27) and other members of key management during the financial year was as
follows:
		
Group
Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
		
RM
RM
RM
RM		
					
Salaries and other emoluments
3,117,472
2,976,042
54,000
54,000
Employees Provident Fund
367,565
357,201
Social security contributions
15,806
15,106
		

3,500,843
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
33. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
The Group adopts business segment analysis as its primary reporting format and no geographical segment is prepared as the Group
operates principally in Malaysia.
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis.
Segment capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment.

		
2010
		

Data and
Document
Processing
RM

Software
Development
RM

Forms
Printing
RM

Others
RM

Elimination
RM

Total
RM

Group							
Operating Revenue							
External sales
48,617,779
9,587,572
545,337
58,750,688
Inter-segment sales
2,971,680
3,384,602
(6,356,282)
Inter-segment dividends
1,000,000
(1,000,000)
Total operating revenue

48,617,779

12,559,252

3,929,939

1,000,000

(7,356,282)

58,750,688

Results							
Profit from operations
2,865,996
9,626,279
652,337
194,242
13,338,854
Associated companies - share of results
326,606
326,606
Profit before taxation

3,192,602

9,626,279

-

13,665,460

Interest income						
Finance cost						
Income tax expense						

405,834
(456,619)
(1,147,042)

Profit attributable to owners of the Company						

12,467,633
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
33. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (CONT’D)
Data and
		
Document
Software
Forms
2010
Processing Development
Printing
Others
Elimination
Total
		
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
						
Group							
Net Assets							
Segment assets
78,317,862
23,282,580
3,570,535
68,500,986 (63,685,002) 109,986,961
Associates
3,267,355
3,267,355
Tax assets
455,839
2,475
80,565
538,879
Total assets

78,773,701

23,285,055

3,570,535

71,848,906

(63,685,002) 113,793,195

Segment liabilities
Tax liabilities

59,576,308
-

1,461,437
-

1,755,502
75,185

3,066,953
-

(52,011,828)
-

13,848,372
75,185

Total liabilities

59,576,308

1,461,437

1,830,687

3,066,953

(52,011,828)

13,923,557

Other Information							
Capital expenditure
2,042,090
24,201
144,652
2,210,943
Amortisation
4,790
160,341
165,131
Depreciation
4,268,882
65,341
133,861
27,254
4,495,338
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
33. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (CONT’D)

		
2009
		

Data and
Document
Processing
RM

Software
Development
RM

Forms
Printing
RM

Others
RM

Elimination
RM

Total
RM

Group							
Operating Revenue							
External sales
49,121,424
15,995,241
337,580
65,454,245
Inter-segment sales
2,566,400
3,511,718
(6,078,118)
Inter-segment dividends
12,300,000 (12,300,000)
Total operating revenue

49,121,424

18,561,641

3,849,298

12,300,000

(18,378,118)

65,454,245

Results							
Profit from operations
7,870,504
11,985,856
469,760
(2,137,290)
18,188,830
Associated companies - share of results
669,083
669,083
Profit before taxation

8,539,587

11,985,856

-

18,857,913

Interest income						
Finance cost						
Taxation						

231,625
(489,341)
(1,864,699)

Profit attributable to shareholders						

16,735,498
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
33. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (CONT’D)

		
2009
		

Data and
Document
Processing
RM

Software
Development
RM

Forms
Printing
RM

Others
RM

Elimination
RM

Total
RM

Group
Net Assets							
Segment assets
73,276,104
24,989,871
3,072,634
73,614,224 (64,248,271) 110,704,562
Associates
2,940,749
2,940,749
Tax assets
412,515
974
54,373
467,862
Total assets

73,688,619

24,990,845

3,072,634

76,609,346

(64,248,271) 114,113,173

Segment liabilities
Tax liabilities

56,109,205
-

1,746,303
-

1,781,001
31,727

10,531,142
-

(54,350,988)
-

15,816,663
31,727

Total liabilities

56,109,205

1,746,303

1,812,728

10,531,142

(54,350,988)

15,848,390

Other Information							
Capital expenditure
3,133,015
33,964
4,914
3,171,893
Amortisation
4,791
186,126
190,917
Depreciation
4,121,963
224,437
149,697
27,254
4,523,351

34. FINANCIAL risk management policies
The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of financial instruments. The key
financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.
The Group and the Company ensure that the above risks are managed in order to minimise the effects of the unpredictability of the
financial markets on the performance of the Group and of the Company. There have been no change in the nature of the risks which
the Group and the Company are exposed to, nor the objectives, policies and processes to manage those risks compared to the
previous year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
34. FINANCIAL risk management policies (CONT’D)
(a)

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its obligations.
The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables.
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk exposure.
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Exposure to credit risk
At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
trade and other receivables recognised in the statements of financial position.
Credit risk concentration profile
The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of its customers and by monitoring
industry sector profile of its trade receivables on an ongoing basis.
The Group and the Company have no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to a single clearing
participant or counterparty.
The aging of trade receivables is as follows:
Group

Gross
RM

		
2010
Not past due
Past due 0-30 days
Past due 31-60 days
Past due 61-120 days
Past due more than 120 days

17,694,037
962,696
713,610
2,628,354
1,229,778

		

23,228,475
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Net
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17,694,037
962,696
713,610
2,628,354
1,229,778
-

23,228,475

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
34. FINANCIAL risk management policies (CONT’D)
(a)

Credit Risk (Cont’d)
Financial guarantees
The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to subsidiary companies.
The Company monitors on an on going basis the results of the subsidiaries and repayments made by the subsidiaries.
The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM6,928,970 representing the outstanding banking facilities of the subsidiaries
as at the end of the reporting period.
As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the subsidiaries would default on repayment.
The financial guarantees have not been recognised since the fair value on initial recognition was not material.

(b)

Liquidity Risks
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage
of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.
The Group actively manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that
all refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall prudent liquidity management, the Group maintains
sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to meet its working capital requirements. In addition, the Group strives
to maintain available banking facilities of a reasonable level to its overall debt position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
34. FINANCIAL risk management policies (CONT’D)
(b)

Liquidity Risks (Cont’d)
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s liabilities at the reporting date based on
contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

		
		
		

2010
1 to
5 years
RM

Within
1 year
RM

More than
5 years
RM

Total
RM

Group						
Financial Liabilities						
Trade and other payables
3,923,646
3,923,646
Hire purchase payable
100,916
88,235
189,151
Term loans
898,762
4,092,657
1,937,551
6,928,970
		

4,923,324

4,180,892

1,937,551

11,041,767

Company						
Financial Liabilities						
Trade and other payables
1,253,350
6,354
1,259,704

(c)

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group is not significantly exposed to foreign currency risk as the majority of the Group’s transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in Ringgit Malaysia.
The Group also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currency for working capital purposes.
The Group is not engaged in any hedging transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
34. FINANCIAL risk management policies (CONT’D)
(c)

Foreign Currency Risk (Cont’d)
The unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group as at 31st December 2010 that are not denominated in their
functional currencies are as follows:

		
Group
		
2010
		
RM
			
Functional curency

2009
RM

Short term funds			
US dollar
514,038
214,224
Trade receivables			
HK Dollar
129,479
Trade payables			
SG dollar
2,536
Other payables			
SG dollar
330,000

(d)

Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s policy is to borrow principally on the floating rate basis but to retain a proportion of fixed rate debt. The objectives
for the mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings are set to reduce the impact of an upward change in interest rates while
enabling benefits to be enjoyed if interest rates fall.
The Group’s primary interest rate risk relates to interest-bearing debt as at 31st December 2010. The investments in financial
assets are mainly short term in nature and they are not held for speculative purposes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
34. FINANCIAL risk management policies (CONT’D)
(d)

Interest Rate Risk (Cont’d)
The interest rate profile of the Group and the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial instruments, based on carrying
amounts as at the end of the reporting date are as follows:

		
		
		

2010
Group
RM

Company
RM

Fixed rate instruments				
Deposits with licensed banks
14,086,352
13,698,579
Secured hire purchase payables
189,151
Secured term loans
6,928,970
		

21,204,473

13,698,579

							
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, and the Group
does not designate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair value hedged accounting model. Therefore, a change in
interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not affect profit and loss.
(e)

Fair Values
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the end of the reporting date approximated their fair values
due to the relatively short term maturity of these financial instruments.
It is not practicable to estimate the fair values of advances to / (from) subsidiary companies due principally to a lack of fixed
repayment terms entered into by the parties involved and without incurring excessive costs.
The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair values of the following classes of financial instruments:
(i)

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short term Investments, Trade Receivables / Payables and Short-term Borrowings
The carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.

(ii)

Borrowings
The fair values of the borrowings approximate their respective carrying values on the reporting date of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
35. CONTINGENT LIABILITY
Company
2010
RM

		
		

2009
RM

Unsecured				
Corporate guarantee given to financial institutions for banking facilities granted
to subsidiary companies
15,100,000
15,100,000

36.	capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the financial years ended 31st December 2010 and 31st
December 2009.
37. SUPPLEMENTARY EXPLANATORY NOTE ON DISCLOSURE OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS
The breakdown of the retained profits of the Group and of the Company as at 31st December 2010 into realised and unrealised profits
is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad dated 25th March 2010 and prepared in
accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of
Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.
		
2010
		
Group
Company
		
RM
RM
					
Total retained profits of the Company and its subsidiaries				
- Realised profit
34,075,764
1,054,034
- Unrealised losses
(41,638)
		
- Consolidation adjustment
Total retained profits as per financial statements
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34,034,126
-

1,054,034
-

34,034,126

1,054,034

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31ST DECEMBER 2010
37. SUPPLEMENTARY EXPLANATORY NOTE ON DISCLOSURE OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS (CONT’D)
The determination of realised and unrealised profits above is solely for complying with the disclosure requirements as stipulated in the
directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and should not be applied for any other purposes.
38.	comparative figures
Comparative figures for cash and cash equivalents have been restated to conform to the changes in FRS 139:
Group
Company
		
As
As reported
As
As reported
		
restated
previously
restated
previously
		
RM
RM
RM
RM
							
Cash and bank balances
2,943,585
2,943,585
30,503
30,503
Deposits with licensed banks
30,003,400
30,003,400
25,422,633
25,422,633
Short term deposits with fund management company
8,063,714
6,043,702
		

32,946,985
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25,453,136

31,496,838

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Sub-Section (15) of Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965
We, the undersigned, being two of the directors of

EFFICIENT E-SOLUTIONS BERHAD
do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 29 to 89 are drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and the applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia for Entities Other Than Private Entities
so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31st December 2010 and of their financial
performance and cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

CHEAH CHEE KONG

VICTOR CHEAH CHEE WAI

Kuala Lumpur
Date : 27 April 2011
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Statutory declaration
Pursuant to Sub-Section (16) of Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965
I, CHONG CHEN TONG, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of

EFFICIENT E-SOLUTIONS BERHAD
do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 29 to 89 are to the best of my knowledge and belief,
correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory
Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared
by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur
In the Federal Territory on

)
)
)
)
27 April 2011
)
		
		

CHONG CHEN TONG

Before me,

Ahmad B. Laya
No.: W259
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF EFFICIENT E-SOLUTIONS BERHAD (Company No. 632479-H)
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Efficient E-Solutions Bhd., which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31st
December 2010 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and
statements of cash flow of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 29 to 89.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation the of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, and for such internal control as the directors determine necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with applicable approved Financial Reporting Standards
and the Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31st
December 2010 and of their financial performance and cash flow for the financial year then ended.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
TO THE MEMBERS OF EFFICIENT E-SOLUTIONS BERHAD (Company No. 632479-H)
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:
a)

In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

b)

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s financial statements
are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we
have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

c)

Our audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made under
subsection (3) of Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965.

Other Reporting Responsibilities
The supplementary information set out in Note 37 to the financial statements is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary
information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context
of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants
(“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all
material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
Other Matters
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in
Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

POH LIONG BAN		
1195/04/13 (J/PH)		
Partner		

POH & CO.
Firm Number : AF : 0587
Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
Date : 27 April 2011
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LIST OF PROPERTIES							
As at 31st December 2010							
			
Date of Approximate
Total
Total
Description/
Tenure/ date of
acquisition by
age of
land
built-up
Title / location
existing use
expiry of lease
the Company
building
areas
area
				
(years)
(sq. m)
(sq. m)
							
HS(M) 7212, Lot No. PT 6724,
Industrial land – end-lot
Leasehold
14.09.1995
24
222.96
379.04
Tempat B6½ , Jalan Klang Lama,
2½ storey terrace light
land expiring
Mukim Petaling, Daerah Petaling, industrial building /
on 04.03.2085
Negeri Selangor
production facility and
administration office

Net book
value as at
31.12.2010
(RM)

HS(M) 7213, Lot No. 6725,
Tempat B6½, Jalan Klang Lama,
Mukim Petaling, Daerah Petaling,
Negeri Selangor

Industrial land – 2½
storey terrace light
industrial building /
production facility and
administration office

Leasehold
land expiring
on 04.03.2085

14.09.1995

24

193.2

309.18

1,197,614

HS(M) 7214, Lot No. 6726,
Tempat, B6½, Jalan Klang Lama,
Mukim Petaling, Daerah Petaling,
Negeri Selangor

Industrial land – 2½
storey terrace light
industrial building /
production facility and
administration office

Leasehold
land expiring
on 04.03.2085

14.09.1995

24

193.2

309.18

HS (D) 142710, PT No. 17655,
Mukim Damansara,
Daerah Petaling, Negeri Selangor

Industrial land – 3 storey
industrial building with
4 storey office building /
production facility and
administration office

Freehold land
and building

30.06. 2008

2

Parcel No. 2A-21-1, Level 21,
Block 2A, Plaza Sentral Phase II,
Jalan Stesen Sentral,
50470 Kuala Lumpur

Commercial office lot /
Administration office

Freehold
Office Lot

11.07.2006

4
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8,152.24 12,040.25

N/A

252.56

27,634,392

1,323,834

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 29 April 2011
Substantial Shareholders
Direct 		
Shareholdings
%

Name
Cheah Chee Kong Sdn Bhd
Cheah Chee Kong
Victor Cheah Chee Wai
Cheah Swee Sin Sdn Bhd
Soon Yoke Leng
Ho Choong Lim
Asian New Century Capital Sdn Bhd
Dato’ Shaik Aqmal bin Shaik Allaudin
Beaufort International Equities Inc

107,795,000
9,734,500
6,000,000
106,200,000
6,000,000
500,000
57,416,600
1,600,000
71,896,600

Indirect
Shareholdings		

%

16.37
106,200,000 1
16.13
1.48
213,995,000 2
32.50
0.91
213,995,000 2
32.50
16.13
-		
0.91
106,200,000 3
16.13
0.08
106,200,000 3
16.13
8.72
-		
0.24
70,797,300 4
10.75
10.92				

Notes:
1
Deemed interested by virtue of its shareholdings in Cheah Swee Sin Sdn Bhd (“CSSSB”) pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies
Act, 1965
2
Deemed interested by virtue of his shareholdings in Cheah Chee Kong Sdn Bhd (“CCKSB”) and CCKSB’s shareholdings in CSSSB
pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965
3
Deemed interested by virtue of his / her shareholdings in CSSSB pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965
4
Deemed interested by virtue of his shareholdings in One BPO Sdn Bhd (formerly known as VPI International Sdn Bhd) and Asian New
Century Capital Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965

Directors’ Shareholdings
Direct 		
Shareholdings
%

Name
Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah
Cheah Chee Kong
Victor Cheah Chee Wai
Soon Yoke Leng
Datuk Syed Hussian bin Syed Junid
Ho Hin Choy
Voong Kian Yee

8,885,400
9,734,500
6,000,000
6,000,000
7,229,800
-

1.35
1.48
0.91
0.91
1.10
-

Indirect
Shareholdings		

%

-		
213,995,000 1
213,995,000 1
106,200,000 2
-		
-		
-		

32.50
32.50
16.13
-

Notes:
1
Deemed interested by virtue of his shareholdings in Cheah Chee Kong Sdn Bhd (“CCKSB”) and CCKSB’s shareholdings in Cheah
Swee Sin Sdn Bhd (“CSSSB”) pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965
2
Deemed interested by virtue of her shareholdings in CSSSB pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965

95

Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
Annual Report 2010

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS (cont’d)
As at 29 April 2011
Class of Equity Security
Authorised share capital
Issued & fully paid-up capital
Class of shares
Voting rights

:
:
:
:

RM200,000,000.00
RM65,835,010.00
Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
One vote per ordinary share

Distribution of Shareholdings
Holdings

No. of Holders

Total Holdings

%

3
239
488
1,151
337
4
2,222

100
46,050
3,694,900
49,940,550
251,893,400
352,775,100
658,350,100

0.00
0.01
0.56
7.59
38.26
53.58
100.00

Shareholding

%

Less than 100 shares
100 to 1,000 shares
1,001 to 10,000 shares
10,001 to 100,000 shares
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares
5% and above of issued shares
Total

Thirty Largest Shareholders
(without aggregating securities from different securities accounts belonging to the same person)
No Name
1

Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
106,500,000
16.18
Pledged Securities Account - Ambank (M) Berhad for Cheah Chee Kong Sdn Bhd			

2

Cheah Swee Sin Sdn Bhd

3

HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
82,658,500
12.56
Exempt An for Credit Suisse			

4

Asian New Century Capital Sdn Bhd

57,416,600

8.72

5

Beh Eng Par

22,522,500

3.42

6

Perspektif Padu Sdn Bhd

12,106,300

1.84

7

VPI International Sdn Bhd

10,830,200

1.65

8

Cheah Chee Kong

9,734,500

1.48

9

Abdul Latif bin Abdullah

8,885,400

1.35

106,200,000
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16.13

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS (cont’d)
As at 29 April 2011
No Name

Shareholding

%

10

DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad
8,160,000
1.24
Exempt An For Kumpulan Sentiasa Cemerlang Sdn Bhd			

11

Syed Hussian bin Syed Junid

7,229,800

1.10

12

Victor Cheah Chee Wai

6,000,000

0.91

13

Soon Yoke Leng

6,000,000

0.91

14

JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
5,646,300
0.86
Pledged Securities Account For Perspektif Padu Sdn. Bhd.			

15

Lim Kian Tick

16

HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
3,500,000
0.53
Exempt An for the Bank of New York Mellon			

17

Tan Ah Nya

18

Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
3,138,300
0.48
Pledged Securities Account for Tan Aik Pen			

19

Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
3,000,000
0.46
Employees Provident Fund Board			

20

Lau See Mang

2,800,000

0.43

21

Tan Aik Pen

2,500,000

0.38

22

HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
2,500,000
0.38
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for HwangDBS Aiiman Growth Fund			

23

Lai Meng Chee

2,500,000

0.38

24

VPI International Sdn Bhd

2,414,500

0.37

25

C.C. Ng & Brothers Sdn Bhd

2,380,000

0.36

26

HDM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
2,040,000
0.31
HDM Capital Sdn Bhd for Lee Fook Kheun			

27

HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt An for HSBC Private Bank (Suisse) S.A.

2,000,000

0.30

28

Tan Lean Cheng

1,930,000

0.29

29

Chooi Oi Ying

1,875,000

0.28

30

Tang Kim Yoke

1,875,000

0.28

3,850,000

3,159,500
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0.58

0.48

Notice of Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 8th Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Bangsar Seafood Garden Restaurant, One
Bangsar, No 63 Jalan Ara, Bangsar Baru, 59100 Kuala Lumpur on 29 June 2011 at 10:00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:
1

To receive and adopt the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 and the
reports of the directors and auditors thereon.

2.

To re-elect the following directors who retire in accordance with Article 120 of the Company's Articles of
Association.
(i)
(ii)

Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah
Ms Esther Soon Yoke Leng

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)
(Resolution 3)

3.

To re-elect Mr Voong Kian Yee who retires in accordance with Article 98 of the Company's Articles of
Association.

(Resolution 4)

4.

To appoint Messrs TKNP International as auditors of the Company in place of the retiring auditors, Messrs Poh &
Co, and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 5)

Special Business:
To consider and if thought fit, pass with or without modification, the following resolutions:		
Ordinary Resolutions:		
5.

Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965
“That pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, the directors be and are hereby authorised to issue
shares in the Company at any time until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and upon such terms
and conditions and for such purposes as the directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the
aggregate number of shares to be issued does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the issued and paid-up share
capital of the Company for the time being (excluding the number of ordinary shares arising from the exercise of
the Executives’ Share Option Scheme), subject always to the approvals of all the relevant regulatory authorities
being obtained for such issue and allotment”.
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(Resolution 6)

Notice of Annual General Meeting (cont’d)
6.

Proposed renewal of shareholders’ mandate for recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading
nature
“That pursuant to Paragraph 10.09 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad, approval be and is hereby given for the Company and/or its subsidiaries (“Group”) to enter into and
give effect to any category of recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature with the related
parties as specified in Section 2.2 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 3 June 2011 which are necessary for
the Group’s day-to-day operations and/or in the ordinary course of business of the Company and its subsidiary
companies terms which are not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the public
and are not detrimental to the minority shareholders of the Company:And that authority conferred by this ordinary resolution shall continue to be in force until:(a)

the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company at which time it will lapse
unless authority is renewed by a resolution passed at the next AGM;

(b)

the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is to be held pursuant to Section 143(1) of the
Companies Act, 1965 (but shall not extend to such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 143(2)
of the Companies Act, 1965); or

(c)

revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders at a general meeting;

whichever is earlier.
And that the directors of the Company be authorized to complete and to do all such acts and things (including
executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary or give effect to
the Mandate."
7.

To transact any other matter for which due notices shall have been given in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association and the Companies Act, 1965.

By Order of the Board
ESTHER SOON YOKE LENG MAICSA 7002027
ZOE LIM HOON HWA MAICSA 7031771
CHONG CHEN TONG MIA 11548
Company Secretaries
Selangor Darul Ehsan
3 June 2011
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(Resolution 7)

Notice of Annual General Meeting (cont’d)
Notes:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his behalf.
A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provision of Section 149(1)(a) and (b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not
apply.
Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding to be
represented by each proxy.
Where a member is an authorized nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it may appoint at least 1
proxy with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.
The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorized in writing or, if the appointer
is a corporation, under its common seal, or the hand of its attorney duly authorized.
The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting or adjourned Meeting.

Explanatory Notes
7.

Resolution 5
The resolution 5 is proposed in view of the retiring auditors, Messrs Poh & Co, did not seek reappointment. On 18 May 2011, the Company
received a notice of nomination, pursuant to Section 172(11) of the Companies Act, 1965, from a shareholder of the Company for the appoinment
of TKNP International as auditors of the Company. A copy of the notice of nomination is annexed for notice of members.

Special Business
8.

Resolution 6
The Company had, during the 7th AGM held on 30 June 2010, obtained its shareholders’ approval for the general mandate for issuance of
shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.
The Company has on, 26 May 2011, announced a proposed private placement of up to 52,668,000 new ordinary shares of RM0.10 each,
representing up to 8% of the issued and paid up capital of the Company, pursuant to the general mandate of Section 132D of the Companies
Act, 1965 obtained from its shareholders in its 7th AGM. Detail of the Private Placement is contained in the Company’s announcement dated
26 May 2011. No share has been issued as at the date of this Notice.
The proposed resolution 6 is a renewal of the general mandate for issuance of shares by the Company under Section 132D. This mandate,
if passed, will empower the directors of the Company to allot and issue shares in the Company up to an aggregate amount not exceeding
10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being for such purposes as they consider would be in the interest of the
Company. This would avoid any delay and cost involved in convening a general meeting to specifically approve such an issue of shares for fund
raising activities, including but not limited to placing of shares for the purpose of funding future investment project(s), working capital and/or
acquisition. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting will expire at the next AGM of the Company.

9.

Resolution 7
The proposed resolution 7, if passed, authorise the Group to enter into recurrent related party transactions as specified in the Circular to
Shareholders dated 3 June 2011, provided such transactions are of revenue or trading nature which are necessary for the Group’s day-today operations and are in the ordinary course of business made on arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms which are not more
favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the public and not to the detriment of the minority shareholders.
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Annexure

NOTICE OF NOMINATION OF AUDITORS
Cheah Chee Kong Sdn Bhd
No. 3 Jalan Astaka U8/82
Taman Perindustrian Bukit Jelutong
Seksyen U8 Bukit Jelutong
40150 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan

18 May 2011

The Board of Directors
Efficient E-Solutions Berhad
No. 3 Jalan Astaka U8/82
Taman Perindustrian Bukit Jelutong
Seksyen U8 Bukit Jelutong
40150 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Dear Sirs
Nomination of Messrs TKNP International as Auditors of Efficient E-Solutions Berhad (“the Company”)
Pursuant to Section 172(11) of the Companies Act, 1965, we, being a shareholder of the Company, hereby give notice of our intention to
nominate Messrs TKNP International for appointment as Auditors of the Company in place of the retiring Auditors, Messrs Poh & Co, and
to propose the following as an ordinary resolution to be tabled at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company:
“That Messrs TKNP International be appointed as auditors of the Company in place of the retiring auditors, Messrs Poh & Co, and authority
be and is hereby given to the directors to fix their remuneration.”

Yours faithfully
CHEAH CHEE KONG SDN BHD

CHEAH CHEE KONG
Director
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proxy form

Number of shares held

I/ We,

NRIC/ Passport No./ Company No.
(FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)

of

		
(FULL ADDRESS)

being a *member/ members of EFFICIENT E-SOLUTIONS BERHAD, hereby appoint
NRIC/ Passport No.
(FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)

of

		
(FULL ADDRESS)

*and/ or failing him/ her,

NRIC/ Passport No.
(FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)

of

		
(FULL ADDRESS)

or the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/ our proxy to vote for *me/ us on *my/ our behalf at the 8th Annual General Meeting of the Company
to be held at Bangsar Seafood Garden Restaurant, One Bangsar, No. 63, Jalan Ara, Bangsar Baru, 59100 Kuala Lumpur on 29 June 2011 at
10:00 a.m. or any adjournment thereof and to vote as indicated below:No. Resolutions		
1

Adoption of reports and audited financial statements

2

Re-election of Dato’ Abdul Latif bin Abdullah

3

Re-election of Esther Soon Yoke Leng

4

Re-election of Voong Kian Yee

5

Appointment of Messrs TKNP International as auditors

For

Against

Special Business
6

Authority to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D

7

Renewal of shareholders’ mandate			

Dated this

day of

, 2011
Signature/ Common Seal of Shareholder

* Delete if inapplicable
NOTES
i. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his behalf.
ii. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provision of Section 149(1) (a) and (b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply.
iii. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding to be represented
by each proxy.
iv. Where a member is an authorized nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it may appoint at least one (1) proxy
with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.
v. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorized in writing or, if the appointer is a
corporation, under its common seal, or the hand of its attorney duly authorized.
vi. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed
for holding the Meeting or adjourned Meeting.
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